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$2.9 billion



BUILDING A LEGACY

Seven years in the making, the $2.9
billion 15 year RNA Showgrounds Master
Plan redevelopment wins approval with
construction set to start in 2011

42%

RECORD
BREAKING

30%

HIGHEST
EVER

Increase in Ekka gate takings

Increase in turnover for the RNA

66%

Increase in venue hire business revenue
(outside of Ekka)

455,550

WEBSITE
VISITS

In the lead-up to and during Ekka, (from
July 8 to August 14) there were 455,550
visits to the Ekka website

$16 million
Amount of free publicity generated
from 2010 Ekka

450

EXTRA JOBS
CREATED

117% increase in RNA jobs created,
up from 300 in 2009 to 750 positions

7,841

FACEBOOK
FANS

Amount of ‘likers’ the Ekka facebook
page attracted

20%

BUMPER
EKKA CROWD

Increase in Ekka attendance compared
to 2009

1 million

Number of people who have attended
events at the RNA Showgrounds in 2010
out of a total Brisbane population of
2 million

4,000

Number of extra schoolchildren who
participated in the Ekka Learning Trail,
a 44% increase from 9,000 in 2009 to
13,000 schoolchildren in 2010
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OUR ORGANISATION

History
The Royal National Agricultural and Industrial Association of Queensland (RNA)
was established in 1875 with Governor Sir William Cairns as its President.
Our charter is to promote and encourage the development of the state’s
agricultural, industrial, manufacturing and cultural resources and to provide a
vibrant destination with leading educational and event facilities and activities that
capture the hearts and minds of all Queenslanders, from the country to the city.
The Royal Queensland Show, fondly known as the Ekka, holds a special place
in the state’s cultural heritage and in the hearts of all Queenslanders. Bowen Park
was chosen in January 1876 as the site for the first Show. The park consisted of an
area of 6.8 hectares bordered by Bowen Bridge Road, Gregory Terrace and
a creek which ran through the centre of the present Main Arena. The ‘Intercolonial
Exhibition of 1876’, held from August 22–26 proved a great success. A public
holiday was declared and an estimated 15,000–17,000 people attended the
opening day—a great feat at a time when the total population of Brisbane was
just 20,600. The first ‘Royal’ Show was held in 1921, when the Association was
granted the prefix under warrant from His Majesty King George V. Since then,
the shortened name ‘Ekka’ has replaced ‘Exhibition’ in the Queensland vernacular.
The charter still guides the RNA today which owns and operates the 22 hectare
RNA Showgrounds, situated just 1.6 kilometres from Brisbane’s central business
district. The Show has been held continuously at its current site in Bowen Hills
with only two exceptions—1919 when Brisbane suffered a Spanish influenza
epidemic and during World War II when the Showgrounds were used as a staging
depot for troops moving north in 1942.
The Ekka continues to be Queensland’s biggest and most anticipated yearly
event and continues to achieve its aim of connecting Queenslanders of all ages—
from the country to the city and from all walks of life. Every year it represents an
opportunity for our members to gather socially, harness business opportunities,
exchange ideas and innovations and present our state’s agricultural and industrial
products and initiatives.
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“

Our charter is to promote and encourage the development of the state’s
agricultural, industrial, manufacturing and cultural resources plus
provide an opportunity for country and city residents to come together
and celebrate the Queensland lifestyle.”

The RNA Today
The guiding principles of the RNA today originate from the charter forged by
the founders of the organisation in 1875. Their vision, to promote and encourage
the development of Queensland agriculture and business, is a key cornerstone
of today’s operations. The RNA remains a member based, not for dividend
organisation governed by a 21 member Council. An executive team of seven
Councillors, including the RNA President, has the responsibility of ensuring the
ongoing viability the RNA.
Iconic Queenslander and sporting great Darren
Lockyer (centre) officially launched the 2010 Ekka.
He is pictured with RNA President Allan Warby (left) 
and RNA Chief Executive Jonathan Tunny (right).

When it comes to planning the yearly Ekka, RNA Councillors sit on various
planning committees and assist with the direction and administration of Ekka
competitions and exhibits. All Councillors act in an honorary capacity and are
assisted by Council Stewards, who also volunteer their time.
The RNA has a 60 strong permanent workforce guided by Chief Executive
Jonathan Tunny and a senior management team responsible for redevelopment,
event production, facilities, leasing, corporate services, communications,
marketing, sales, sponsorship and organisational development.

Membership
The RNA enjoys a rich and engaging membership of more than 5,000 people.
These include politicians, sporting greats, leaders of industry, grandparents
passing the tradition on to their grandchildren, competitors and those residents
who love coming to the Show each year. They hail from living just a few kilometres
from the RNA Showgrounds, to south east and regional Queensland, interstate
and overseas. RNA members enjoy a range of benefits including free admission
to Ekka for the member and a guest; access to the members’ grandstand; free
use of cloakroom facilities during Ekka; reduced entry fees for most Royal
Queensland Show competitions; discounted RNA Showgrounds venue hire;
free parking at RNA Showgrounds events (outside of Ekka); and the quarterly
Showbiz magazine.
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1875

OUR EVOLUTION

FROM THE BEGINNING TO 1950

THE NATIONAL AGRICULTURAL
AND INDUSTRIAL ASSOCIATION
OF QUEENSLAND
• The ‘National Agricultural and Industrial Association 
of Queensland’ was formed by a group of colonists.

1876

1906
1909

1912

THE CENTRE OF SOCIAL ACTIVITIES
• The RNA Showgrounds become the centre of the 
city’s social activities—musical and drama groups,
football, cricket, lacrosse, athletics and cycling 
all had headquarters ongrounds.

1882

THE FIRST RAILWAY STATION

1917

MAIN PAVILION DESTROYED
• Main Pavilion (corner of Bowen Bridge Road and
Gregory Terrace) destroyed by fire.

1891

1920

EDWARD, PRINCE OF WALES VISITS
THE EKKA
• Edward, Prince of Wales visits the Ekka.
• Number 2 Oval was built.

1921

THE RNA
• The prefix ‘Royal’ is added to the Association’s name
after it was granted the prefix under warrant from 
His Majesty King George V.

MAIN PAVILION REPLACED
• Main Pavilion replaced with new brick building on 
the corner of Bowen Bridge Road and Gregory Terrace. 
It contains 1,300,000 bricks and was completed in 
23 weeks. 300 men were constantly at work during 
its construction. The building was equipped with 
a huge pipe organ by Wallis and Co of London.

TOOWOOMBA'S AUSTRAL HALL
• Toowoomba’s Austral Hall was bought for 1,500
pounds and re-erected at the RNA Showgrounds
making it the largest building of its type in the state.

• First railway station opened at the RNA Showgrounds
—as an extension of the Sandgate Line.

1887

AMERICAN AVIATOR
ARTHUR BURR STONE
• American aviator Arthur Burr Stone uses the Main
Arena to take off and land a Metz Bleriot Monoplane 
for the first ever flight over Brisbane.

• The first exhibition building was erected.

1878

SIX ACRES OF LAND
• Six acres of land bought off Mrs Petty (land bordered 
by Gregory Terrace, Alexandria Street, Science Street
and Water Street).

THE FIRST EXHIBITION
• The Intercolonial Exhibition of 1876 was held 
at Bowen Park with an estimated 15,000–17,000
attending out of Brisbane’s population at the 
time of just 20,600.

JOHN MACDONALD STAND
• John MacDonald Stand built.

1923

ERNEST BAYNES STAND
• Ernest Baynes Stand was built—two tiers, 7,000 person
capacity, plus 600 seat dining room.

1926

NATIONAL SPEEDWAY
• National Speedway opened at the grounds.

1928

SIR DONALD BRADMAN TEST DEBUT
• Main Arena plays host to the test debut of the world’s
greatest batsman Sir Donald Bradman. Bradman was
playing in the first Australia England International Test 
to be played in Queensland.
• First international rugby league game held on the 
Main Arena.

1942

WORLD WAR II
• The Show was cancelled due to World War II as 
the grounds were used as a staging depot.
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1954

OUR EVOLUTION

FROM 1951 TO THE PRESENT

QUEEN ELIZABETH II AND
PRINCE PHILLIP
• Visit from Her Majesty Queen Elizabeth II and 
Prince Phillip.

1964

2002
2003

INTERNATIONAL SPRINGBOK TOUR

2005

• International Springbok Tour where a two metre chain
wire fence was erected to separate the players from 
the spectators.
• RNA becomes a corporate body with a legal identity 
of its own.

1988

1989

1996

2000

2007

SOUNDWAVE MUSIC FESTIVAL
• Soundwave music festival held at the RNA
Showgrounds for the first time.

2009

REDEVELOPMENT PARTNER
• RNA select Lend Lease as its redevelopment partner
for the $2.9 billion RNA Showgrounds Redevelopment
project.

LIVID MUSIC FESTIVAL
• The renowned Livid Music Festival was held at the 
RNA Showgrounds for the first time.

RNA SHOWGROUNDS REDEVELOPMENT
PROJECT
• RNA Showgrounds Master Plan Redevelopment
launched.

THE YEAR OF WORLD EXPO 88
• Year of World Expo 88. Ekka achieved its highest
attendance with an estimated 800,000 attending.

REDEVELOPMENT VISION BEGINS
• RNA Council embarks on its long term vision to
keep the Ekka at the RNA Showgrounds and cement
the long term financial viability of the RNA through
redeveloping the RNA Showgrounds.

ANIMAL NURSERY AT THE EKKA
• Introduction of the now famous Animal Nursery 
at the Ekka.

1971

THE CURE AT LIVID
• British music icons The Cure perform at Livid.

2010

ONE OF THE MOST SUCCESSFUL SHOWS

COMMERCE AND EXHIBITION
BUILDINGS

• RNA operates one of the most successful Ekkas 
in history.

• Commerce and Exhibition Buildings constructed.

• One million people attend events at the RNA
Showgrounds in a calendar year.

SIDESHOW ALLEY AND WOODCHOP

• American rockers Faith No More headline Soundwave
and play to a crowd of more than 40,000.

• Inner city bypass constructed, sideshow alley and 
the woodchop arena redeveloped.

• RNA Showgrounds Master Plan approved by the
Urban Land Development Authority paving way for
construction to start.

• International music superstars Oasis and Green Day
perform at Livid.

2011

RNA SHOWGROUNDS REGENERATION
• Construction of the RNA Showgrounds regeneration
scheduled to start.
• British heavy metal band Iron Maiden to headline
Soundwave which is expected to attract a crowd 
of 40,000.

8

rna annual report 2010

rna annual report 2010

9

3

PRESIDENT’S REPORT

“

	I am proud to be part of an organisation which
has achieved such remarkable success during
the past 12 months.”
competition event and in 2010 attracted
more than 23,500 entries and featured
some of the world’s leading judges from
as far afield as Europe, South Africa,
Canada and Japan.

2010 marks my first year as RNA
President and I am proud to be part
of an organisation which has achieved
such remarkable success during the
past 12 months.
From staging one of the most
successful Royal Queensland Shows
in history to fulfilling our long term
vision of ensuring the Ekka remains
at the RNA Showgrounds, the RNA
remains as focussed as ever on our
charter to promote and encourage
the development of Queensland
agriculture and business.

culmination of seven years of planning
and will offer the public a destination
to visit 365 days a year. It will transform
and improve our RNA Showgrounds
and, importantly, provide world-class
facilities for the nearly 10,000 animals
which call Ekka home each year.

Our 2010 Royal Queensland Food
and Wine Show (RQFWS) showcased
and rewarded the best of the best
across seven competition categories—
Branded Beef and Lamb Competition,
the Royal Queensland Wine Show, the
Dairy Produce Show, Olive Oil Show,
Sausage King Competition and Beer
Competition. The RQFWS encourages
and enables producers to put their
products to the ultimate test competing
against their industry peers. Some
of Australia’s most respected and
experienced food industry professionals
were selected as judges and provided
competitors with invaluable feedback.

The 2010 Royal Queensland Show
(RQS) was an outstanding success and
it was wonderful to see and experience
an openly warm and feel-good
atmosphere throughout the event’s
10 days. The Ekka is the state’s premier

Two of the eight RQFWS competitions
have been running for a remarkable
134 years – the Royal Queensland Wine
Show and the Dairy Produce Show.
The wine show is the first major national
show held in capital cities each year,

The most significant achievement
of 2010 was the approval of the RNA
Showgrounds Master Plan Application.
This vital multi-billion dollar project
will enhance and energise the Ekka
by upgrading and replacing venues
with state of the art facilities. It is the
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The 2010 RQS was proud to be
home to the prestigious Led Steer
Competition and the Dairy Breed
Competition, plus the renowned Beef
Cattle Competitions. Horses remained
one of the most popular competitions
and featured Australia’s largest annual
Thoroughbred Competition while the
Canine Competition attracted the most
entries and acted as the qualifying
show for entry into the world’s largest
dog show—Crufts.
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offering the wine industry its first
comprehensive look at new releases.
We look forward to the introduction
of a brand new combined competition
in 2011 recognising the best of the best
in sorbet, ice cream and gelato—the
first time a competition of this kind will
be staged in Australia.
I would like to thank my fellow RNA
Councillors for their hard work and
dedication over the past 12 months
and all our valued RNA members,
judges, stewards, competitors,
exhibitors and sponsors who provide
such wonderful support each year.
It is a pleasure and privilege to stage
Queensland’s biggest event each year
and I look forward to another year of
great success and enthusiasm. I must
make mention of and compliment the
various teams of staff who work long
hours with a great variety of challenges
to which we have to find answers—for
their efforts I say thank you.
Lastly, on behalf of the RNA, I extend
our thoughts and prayers to our fellow
Queenslanders impacted by the flood
crisis which affected 75 per cent of the
state. We offer our sincere and heartfelt
sympathy to the families who have lost
loved ones in this devastating tragedy.

Allan Warby OAM
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REPORT

“

	The approval of the RNA Showgrounds Master
Plan represents one of the most significant
milestones in the RNA’s 135 year history.”

Seven years ago, the RNA began to
devise a long term strategy with two
critical goals in mind—to keep the
Ekka at its rightful birthplace, the
RNA Showgrounds, and cement the
long term financial viability of the
organisation.
The past 12 months has seen these
goals come to fruition with the approval
of the world-class $2.9 billion RNA
Showgrounds Master Plan paving the
way for construction on stage one
to start in early 2011. This exciting
regeneration of our famous landmark
synonymous with Queensland’s
social heritage and culture represents
a historic planning milestone for
Brisbane. It is not simply an urban
renewal but rather a transformation
of our 22 hectare site, 1.6 kilometres
from the CBD, into a vibrant year round
destination.
For the RNA and our development
partner Lend Lease, this once in
a lifetime collaboration signals an
opportunity to build a legacy for
future generations to enjoy by giving
the RNA Showgrounds the facelift it
richly deserves and guaranteeing the
Ekka remains on grounds. The RNA is
committed to keeping the historic feel
and relevance of the Show and believes
this regeneration will enhance and
energise the Ekka with state of

the art facilities. This is vital for the
Ekka to remain relevant and ensure its
long term financial survival. This is also
why it is so important existing buildings
are upgraded and in some instances
replaced so they are of a standard
which will service successive shows,
and events outside of Ekka, for years
to come.
The approval of the RNA Showgrounds
Master Plan represents one of the most
significant milestones in the RNA’s 135
year history and is a credit to the vision
and passion of successive RNA Councils
and staff. It is an achievement we can
all be proud of as it signals the start
of an exciting era of opportunity and
growth for the RNA.
2010 will also be known as the year
the RNA operated one of its most
successful Royal Queensland Shows
with record breaking gate takings and
a 30 per cent increase in turnover.
Encouragingly, more than 400,000
people came to the Ekka—a significant
increase on 2009—and enjoyed
improved food, value, tradition and
entertainment offerings as identified
through our market research.

a new RQFWS brand and instigated
a comprehensive review of judging
processes and standards for the new
show’s trophy medals. A RQFWS win
is a mark of achievement and provides
a platform for Australian producers
to excel.
The RNA was privileged to play its part
in helping our fellow Queenslanders
affected by the worst flooding in more
than 100 years. As part of the Queensland
Government’s natural disaster planning,
the RNA Showgrounds housed the
state’s largest evacuation centre and
provided support and assistance for
1,600 affected residents.
2011 signals the beginning of a new
era for the RNA with the first stage
of our redevelopment project starting
and we encourage all Queenslanders
to come on board this historic journey
with us as we build a legacy for future
generations to enjoy.

Jonathan Tunny

Our Royal Queensland Food and Wine
Show (RQFWS) continues to build
momentum in its search for the nation’s
best food and wine offerings and is
expanding to eight competitions in
2011. In only its third year since debut,
this innovative show is expecting more
than 2,500 entries across 154 classes.
In 2009 the RNA placed its existing
food and wine competitions under
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5:59AM. 31 July 2010 Ekka.
Journey’s end. Arrival and anticipation.
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OUR PERFORMANCE
RNA CORPORATE

Overview
2010 has been a year of opportunities and challenges resulting in milestone
achievements and successes. In 12 months the RNA has reduced a $3.2 million
deficit to a net surplus of $450,000; increased turnover by 30 per cent; celebrated
record breaking gate takings for the Royal Queensland Show and brought
construction on the world-class $2.9 billion RNA Showgrounds Redevelopment
project a step closer. The strong financial and strategic successes this year have
laid a solid foundation for the RNA as it moves into an exciting regeneration
phase of opportunity, growth and most importantly, building a legacy for
future generations to enjoy.

Highlights
Net surplus
The RNA will record a net operating surplus of $450,000 for 2010 following
a deficit of $3.2 million in 2009. It is a pleasing turnaround from last year’s
operating loss and represents an improvement of $3.7 million—ensuring
a strong bottom line for the organisation.
Highest ever turnover
2010 will mark the year the RNA achieved its highest ever increase in turnover
—30 per cent—up from $16 million in 2009 to $21 million. This has occurred due
to a 16 per cent increase in revenue from the Royal Queensland Show and
a 66 per cent increase in revenue from non Ekka events—mostly due to increased
venue hire sales and the roll-out of the new venue hire strategy. This includes
$2.8 million in food and beverage revenue earned through venue sales events
held on grounds.
Construction set to start
In the past 12 months the $2.9 billion RNA Showgrounds Redevelopment has
progressed significantly with the signing of the Project Development Agreement
(PDA) with Lend Lease in June 2010 and satisfaction of all the conditions
precedent. Together with the approval of the RNA Showgrounds Master Plan
Application by the Urban Land Development Authority in November 2010,
both of these allowed the project to become unconditional in December 2010.
The finalisation of a $65 million State Government loan will enable construction
on the Industrial Pavilion works—part of stage one—to commence in early 2011.
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“

	The RNA is looking forward to an exciting era of regeneration,
opportunity, growth and most importantly—building a legacy
for future generations to enjoy.”

Major events provide jobs boost
The RNA prides itself on the contribution it makes not just to the community
but also the Queensland economy. This year, the RNA provided an extra 450
employment opportunities for the people of Brisbane, an increase of 117 per
cent on 2009, up from 300 casual positions to 750. These extra jobs were created
due to the RNA securing big events outside of Ekka, including music festivals
such as Soundwave. Positions included bar staff, ticket sellers, car park and
event attendants.
The 2010 Ekka occured in the midst of the federal
election and proved the ideal campaign ground for
politicians from all parties. The RNA was thrilled
to host visits from the Prime Minister and Federal
Opposition Leader and their respective media
contingents. (From left) RNA Chief Executive
Jonathan Tunny, the Prime Minister of Australia 
Julia Gillard, Ms Gillard’s partner Tim Mathieson 
and RNA President Allan Warby.

Reducing our carbon footprint
The RNA has decreased its carbon footprint in 2010 by 1,021 tonnes of CO 2 —
the equivalent of taking 255 cars off the road for a full year or planting 3,811 trees.
This has been achieved through an innovative program of waste separation and
the use of Bio Waste Stations for the disposal of general waste. A Memorandum
of Understanding was struck between the RNA and the Queensland Department
of Environment and Resource Management for a Public Place Recycling program.
The program subsidises the capital expenditure made by RNA for the introduction
of permanent waste stream initiatives. The RNA was one of the first public
venues to join up and is the largest site in the recently awarded program.
90,000 reasons to give
The RNA remains strongly committed to charitable causes and this year has
donated almost $90,000 worth of venue hire for organisations including the
Cancer Council, Salvation Army, Homeless Connect and the Queensland Fire
and Rescue Service. Two days before the 2010 Ekka kicked off, the RNA held
a special morning at the Royal Children’s Hospital to give children unable to
attend the show a slice of what the Ekka had in store.
Brisbane to host Commonwealth Agricultural Conference
This year the RNA beat competing bids to host the prestigious 26th Royal
Agricultural Society of the Commonwealth Agricultural Conference in 2014.
The conference will bring delegates from the confederation of 48 show societies
across 21 countries and represents a valuable opportunity to showcase Brisbane,
south east Queensland, the Royal Queensland Show and our agricultural
industry. The conference will be held during the Ekka which begins that year
(2014) on August 7.
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OUR PERFORMANCE

RNACORPORATE—QUEENSLANDFLOODS

Overview
SPECIAL THANKS
During the flood crisis, several
organisations and individuals provided
outstanding assistance and support in
helping set-up the RNA Showgrounds
Evacuation Centre. On behalf of
the RNA we would like to sincerely
recognise and thank the following:
• Lend Lease Development
• Bovis Lend Lease
• Paul Ryan, Par Electrical and
Communication
• Steve Ryan, Rytech Electrical
Services
• TBM
• Exponet
• Moreton Hire
• Veolia

The worst flooding in more than 100 years will forever be etched in the memories
of all Queenslanders. In January 2011, three quarters of the state was declared
a disaster zone with thousands of people impacted and a clean-up bill conservatively
estimated at $5 billion.
Evacuation centre
As part of the Queensland Government’s disaster planning, the RNA Showgrounds
housed the state’s largest evacuation centre and provided accommodation and
support services for residents affected by the floods. The RNA’s role was to provide
the venue for the centre which was managed by the Red Cross. For eight days,
the RNA provided 24 hour support and assistance to the Red Cross which was home
to people who could not be housed by family and friends. The Exhibition Building
was initially set up but due to the rise in occupants, the Commerce and Auditorium
Buildings were also required for accommodation, administration and dining facilities.
The Lower Auditorium was also used as a Recovery Centre to house the Department
of Communities, Centrelink, Westpac and National Australia Bank. These facilities
helped the 1,600 flood affected evacuees receive vital information and assistance to
get their lives back on track. It was an honour and a privilege for the RNA to provide
assistance, support and the Showgrounds as a venue for this vital centre during such
a distressing time for so many of our fellow Queenslanders.
Ride for Relief Fundraiser
A charity ride led by cycling great Lance Armstrong was staged at the RNA
Showgrounds on January 24, 2011, to raise funds for Queensland flood victims.
The RNA was one of several organisations to throw its support behind this event
which also featured Australian riders Robbie McEwen, Sara Carrigan and Allan Davis
and Queensland Premier Anna Bligh. More than 2,500 cyclists joined the seven time
Tour de France winner on the 25 kilometre ride which raised $125,000. The RNA
was honoured to provide the venue and assist with the event management for
this worthy fundraiser.

The RNA Showgrounds was home to the state’s
largest evacuation centre during the Queensland
floods assisting 1,600 residents.
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Silhouettes tell the story.
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OUR PERFORMANCE
RNASHOWGROUNDS

Overview

BIGGESTATTENDEDEVENTS
outside of Ekka
Caravan and Camping Show
79,500

March Home Show
60,000

Bridge to Brisbane
50,000

National 4x4 Show and Outdoor Expo
35,500

“

The RNA Showgrounds is Brisbane’s major outdoors event venue nestled on
22 hectares just 1.6 kilometres from the CBD. It offers tree lined vistas, outdoor
entertainment areas and function rooms which continue to prove popular.
The rich history of this iconic and revered site is etched into Queensland’s social
heritage. Every generation from the very first Ekka in 1876 to today has warm
memories of attending an event here or witnessing history. From watching
American aviator Arthur Burr Stone land on the Main Arena during the first
flight ever over Brisbane to the Showgrounds being used as a World War II field
hospital. Who can forget the world’s greatest batsman Sir Donald Bradman
making his test debut or those who saw a little known band called Powderfinger
perform at the iconic Livid Festival in 1997. The RNA Showgrounds continues
to evolve and innovate to ensure the next generation can experience and
capture lifelong warm memories.

The rich history of this iconic and revered site
is etched into Queensland’s social heritage.
Every generation from the very first Ekka in 1876
to today has warm memories of attending an
event here or witnessing history.”
Highlights
Showgrounds attract one million
With Brisbane’s population estimated at 2 million, it’s remarkable that nearly
one million people have visited the RNA Showgrounds for an event this year.
The RNA Showgrounds staged almost 140 events this year, with only four
weekends event free. The RNA is committed to ensuring this unique site can
be accessed and used by the people of Brisbane all year round.

18
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Music superstars perform

BIGGESTATTENDEDEVENTS
Music Festivals
Soundwave
40,000

Stereosonic
20,000

Supafest
12,000

No Sleep Til
10,000

The RNA Showgrounds is fast becoming known as one of the nation’s pre-eminent
live music destinations offering facilities which easily cater for concerts of all tastes
and sizes. In 2010 the RNA successfully held five major music festivals—Soundwave,
Stereosonic, Supafest, No Sleep Til and Laneway.
Soundwave 2011 is set to return this February and features one of the most
impressive heavy metal line-ups in history. Headline acts include Iron Maiden,
Queens of the Stone Age, Slayer, Primus, Rob Zombie and Pennywise plus dozens
of other bands who will perform across five stages during the 11 hour festival.
Close to 50,000 people are expected to attend Soundwave 2011, following
the success of this year’s festival. In December about 20,000 attended Stereosonic,
a major dance music festival, while No Sleep Til attracted approximately 10,000
metal and punk fans. Over 7,000 attended the 2011 Laneway festival in February,
while American hip hop superstar Snoop Dogg will headline Supafest in April 2011.
In 2010 alone, more than 80,000 people came to the RNA Showgrounds to enjoy
the diversity major music festivals had to offer.

Photo courtesy of Kayne Lens
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Attracting new events

2010EVENTS
outside of Ekka

Four major new events have called the RNA Showgrounds home in 2010. The Spring
Home Show attracted an attendance of 15,000, while three music festivals held here
for the first time—Supafest, Stereosonic and No Sleep Til attracted about 42,000.
Outside of music festivals and the Ekka, the four biggest attended events for the year
were the Caravan and Camping Show, March Home Show, Bridge to Brisbane and the
National 4x4 Show and Outdoor Expo. Already four major music festivals have been
confirmed for 2011. The RNA Showgrounds also staged the following community
events for the first time this year—Cancer Council ‘Relay for Life’; Salvation Army
Christmas packing; Brisbane City Council’s Homeless Connect, Bring it On—a youth
dance competition and the Lord Mayor’s Seniors Christmas Parties.

Total
137events

Field of dreams

/Corporate events
/Public events and shows
/Private events
/Trade shows
/Music events

37%
26%
16%
15%
6%

Baseball has returned to the RNA Showgrounds with the reformed Brisbane
Bandits kicking off its 20 game home season on the iconic Main Arena in early
November 2010. A crowd of 1,500 flocked to the Bandits opening game against
Perth, with the season running until the end of January 2011. The Bandits last played
at the RNA Showgrounds in the early 90s and form part of the relaunched Australian
Baseball League which is backed by Major League Baseball in the US. The RNA is
using $120,000 in State Government funding to do restoration works on the John
MacDonald Stand to make it more comfortable for spectators.
Event turnaround
The popularity of the RNA Showgrounds means event turnaround must be
conducted swiftly to ensure the site can play host to everything from baseball to
the Ekka to major concerts. With 10,000 animals calling Ekka home over 10 days
each August, moving livestock has become an art in itself. This year the RNA moved
1,100 head of cattle out of the RNA Showgrounds in four hours using 218 truck
movements, with many Ekka visitors lining up to watch the procession of cattle.
Just nine days after staging Queensland’s biggest annual event—the Showgrounds
had been transformed back and hosted the Bridge to Brisbane.

Some of the 40,000 strong crowd at Soundwave
2010. Photo courtesy of Kayne Lens
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OUR PERFORMANCE

EKKAANDROYALQUEENSLANDSHOW

Overview

TOP10EKKACOMPETITIONS
/Number of Entries
1. Canine
2,644

2. Horses in Action
2,427

3. Poultry
1,985

4. Royal Queensland Wine Show

The 2010 Royal Queensland Show didn’t just live up to expectations, it exceeded
them and proved one of the most successful in the RNA’s history. From a 20 per cent
increase in crowd numbers, to the huge media contingent following the every move
of Prime Minister Julia Gillard and Opposition Leader Tony Abbott; to Mark Latham’s
now famous election “ambush”—the 2010 Ekka had it all and proved a record breaker.
For nine of the 10 Show days sunshine and blue skies prevailed and drew more than
400,000 people through the gates to enjoy the traditions, fun, competitions, food and
entertainment on offer. With increased crowd numbers on last year, Queenslanders
enjoyed all the wacky, the wonderful, the thrills, the glamour, the delicious treats
and the strong spirit of competition.

1,936

Highlights

5. Stud Beef Cattle
1,571

6. Woodchop and Sawing
1,331

7. Photography
1,288

8. Stud Horses
1,155

9. Creative Art and Craft
963

10. Education on Show
909
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Record breaking
The 2010 Royal Queensland Show was an outstanding success across the board
and resulted in record breaking gate receipts, throughout the 10 days of Show.
Most critically, the success of the 2010 Ekka was in stark contrast to last year’s Show
which was marred by a series of flu outbreaks, the global financial crisis and other
factors. It was vital the RNA operated a successful Show and, as such, undertook
a series of strategies to reverse last year’s result. The turnover for the 2010 Ekka
increased by 16 per cent on the 2009 Show, gate revenue increased by 42 per cent
and sponsorship increased by 16 per cent.
Strategising to maximise success
This year the RNA developed a comprehensive strategic communications plan focusing
on market research findings conducted during last year’s Ekka. Approximately 3,700
people were surveyed to find out what they thought of Ekka and what they wanted
to see more of. Although 75 per cent of people were happy with their overall Ekka
experience they asked for better food options and they wanted to ensure they were
getting value for money when they came through the gate. As part of the strategy,
the RNA focused on four key messages of tradition, value, food and fun in line with
the research findings. Independent analysis conducted following the Ekka found the
2010 Ekka generated more than 6,000 news stories and $16 million in free publicity.

8:36AM. 7 August 2010 Ekka.
Off to the competition.
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909

Number of entries received in the
Education on Show school competition
—an increase of 680 entries on 2009

107

Number of baby lambs born in
the Sunny Queen Little Miracles
Newborn Corner

900

Number of children who took part in
Brisbane Markets Kids in the Kitchen

400,000+

Number of people who attended the Ekka

3,600

Number of jobs created during the Ekka

4,221

Number of students who competed
in the Billy Hyde Urban Upbeat School
Band Competition

800

Number of volunteers who help
the RNA stage the Ekka

23,500

Number of entries received across
12,000 classes in 52 competition
categories

13,000

Number of schoolchildren who
participated in the Ekka Learning
Trail, up from 9,000 in 2009

144,000

Number of people who visited the
RACQ Insurance Animal Nursery,
making it the Ekka’s most popular
attraction

2,839

Number of judging events which
occurred throughout the Ekka
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Gourmet food proves a treat
This year the RNA was determined to provide a smorgasbord of culinary delights
at the Ekka following the results of special research which revealed the public
wanted better food options.
To highlight this exciting initiative, the RNA, together with The Sunday Mail,
published the very first ‘Great Food Guide’ which proved a hit with visitors.
The guide outlined eight different categories—Premium Coffee, Alfresco and
Restaurant Dining, Fresh and Juicy, Let’s Get Cooking, Delicious Treats, Fine Bites,
Royal Queensland Deli and Wine Tasting. Each category featured a selection of
outlets which corresponded with a map so visitors could make their way around
a trail of gourmet treasures. 200,000 copies of the guide were printed and were
snapped up by foodies eager to explore the new food options. One of the most
popular new gourmet venues was the RNA’s Gourmet Harvest precinct, which
offered restaurant quality food at affordable prices and included renowned
chef Jason Peppler and his local restaurant Confit Bistro. Another well known
Brisbane eatery Brett’s Wharf offered more fine dining options while the new
Seafood and Wine Bar proved popular.
There were more than 80 food and wine vendors operating during the 2010 Ekka
and the RNA remains committed to providing quality food options each year.
From indie to mainstream music
The Ekka this year offered the most extensive and diverse line-up of live bands
from popular indie acts The Grates, The Beautiful Girls, Operator Please and Yves
Klein Blue to mainstream artists Vanessa Amorosi, Stan Walker and Katie Noonan
to classical performers Opera Queensland and Tenorissimo.
Competitions draw international judges
The Royal Queensland Show featured not just 23,500 entries, but also the expertise
of a host of international judging heavyweights who flew to Brisbane for the
annual 10 day event. Irish couple Paula and Robert McCarthy and Kiwi Kevin
Hansen judged horses, David Martin from Britain judged stud beef, CV Sudarsan
from India judged canine while the feline section was judged by David Scadden
and Diane Davidson of New Zealand and Yukimasa Hattori of Japan.

“

	During the 10 days of Ekka nearly 10,000 animals are housed
just 1.6 kilometres from the CBD—making this event truly unique
in the Australian landscape and epitomising city meets country.”

GREAT FOOD FACTS

2010 EKKA OFFERED

50% More Healthy Food Options
50% More Gourmet Food Options
40% More Coffee Vendors
80 Plus Food and Wine Vendors
The Sunday Mail ‘Great Food Guide’
Top Brisbane Chefs Jason Peppler and Alastair McLeod
New Gourmet Harvest Dining Precinct
New Seafood and Wine Bar
New $15 & $20 Royal Queensland Deli Bags

New classes prove a hit
This year’s Ekka featured a swag of new competition classes including pestos
and sauces and cake decorating for novices in the following age groups,
6–10 year-old; 11–14 year-old and Under 19. In crafts, Lapidary, which involves
artists forming stone, mineral, gemstones, amber, shell or pearl into decorative
items such as engraved gems, made its debut. Fine arts recorded a 30 per cent
increase in sculpture entries, while fruit wines made a splash at the Ekka for
the first time. Entries were received from Tasmania, Victoria and Queensland
and must be alcoholic and made from fruit other than grapes. This competition
is only the second of its kind the country.
Staging popular competitions
The RNA was proud this year to host the prestigious Stud Beef Competition
plus the Led Steer Competition. In horses, the RNA welcomed back a round
of the World Cup Showjumping while once again the Show played host to the
renowned Dairy Breed Competition. During the 10 days of Ekka, nearly 10,000
animals are housed just 1.6 kilometres from the CBD—making this event truly
unique in the Australian landscape and epitomising city meets country.
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OUR PERFORMANCE

ROYAL QUEENSLAND FOOD AND WINE SHOW

TOP 5 RQFWS COMPETITIONS

26

Overview

/Number of Entries

In 2009 the RNA placed its existing food and wine competitions under a new
Royal Queensland Food and Wine Show (RQFWS) brand and instigated a
comprehensive review of judging processes and standards for the new Show’s
trophy medals. Its debut that year brought four existing competitions under
this new brand—The Royal Queensland Wine Show, The Dairy Produce Show,
Branded Beef Competition and the Sausage King Competition. In 2010 the
RQFWS expanded and introduced three new competitions to showcase lamb,
olive oil and beer. The RNA started this unique competition to showcase the
nation’s finest food and wine offerings, create a unified and consistent high
level of judging and a recognised RNA fine foods brand. In the future, when
consumers in supermarkets and delis encounter a RQFWS medal winning label
on a product, they can be sure they are buying the very best in that product
range. As the RQFWS competition grows, more products will be judged
and the brand will become more widely recognised.

/Wine
/Dairy Produce
/Olive Oil
/Beer
/Branded Beef and Lamb

Highlights
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Lamb, beer and olive oil on show
This year the RQFWS introduced three new competitions, Branded Lamb
Competition, Olive Oil Show and Royal Queensland Beer Show. Well known
identity Bernie Power was among the judges at the beer competition which
also featured the first ever conducted beer masterclass which was a sell-out.
Award winning chef and restaurateur Matt Moran of Aria fame was on hand
to judge the Branded Lamb Competition while the Olive Oil Competition
proved a success with the inclusion of flavoured oil and table olive classes.

“

The RNA started this unique competition to showcase the nation’s
finest food and wine offerings, create a unified and consistent high level
of judging and a recognised RNA fine foods brand.”

Showcasing the best of the best

Celebrating the nation’s finest
RQFWS2010CHAMPIONS
WINE
Champion Wine from Trophy Winning
Wines (Best Mature White Wine)
LeoBuringLeonayMaturation
ReleaseRiesling2005
Foster’s Group Ltd, Nuriootpa SA

BRANDEDBEEF
Champion Branded Beef of Show
StockyardWagyu

The 2010 RQFWS featured a smorgasbord of culinary delights plus a 20 per cent
increase in entries for Dairy Produce. Judged over three rigorous days, this competition
proved richer than ever embracing milk, cream, butter, cheese, yoghurt, ice cream,
gelato, desserts and classes for goat, sheep and buffalo milk products. A significant
increase in entries for dairy has put it firmly in the top competitions at the RQFWS.
The popular Branded Beef Competition once again attracted a class field and
introduced a new section for wagyu and gained entries from major multi-national
companies to small regional enterprises. Meanwhile The Royal Queensland Wine
Show remains one of Australia’s oldest and highly contested wine events and this
year attracted almost 2,000 entries. As the first national wine show held in capital
cities across Australia, this show allows the nation’s best wine producers to reveal
their new season’s vintage.

Stockyard Pty Ltd, Hendra QLD

BRANDEDLAMB
Branded Lamb Trophy Winner
Sovereign5StarLamb
Goldfields, VIC

DAIRYPRODUCE
Grand Champion Dairy Product of Show
RoaringFortiesBlue
King Island Dairy, King Island TAS

OLIVEOIL
Champion Extra Virgin Olive Oil of Show
AminyaOliveOil
Tri Star Trading Pty Ltd, Eastwood NSW

Champion Table Olive of Show
GreekStyleSevilano
Eagle Vale Olives, Geraldton WA

BEER
Champion Beer of Show

Australian first competition
An exciting Australian first combined Ice Cream, Gelato and Sorbet Show will be
one of eight competitions featuring in the 2011 RQFWS. It will be the first time that
a separate ice cream, gelato and sorbet competition is held to award the nation’s
best products. The new competition will also feature a class for non cow’s milk ice
cream which recognises the growing market for people who are lactose intolerant.
The RQFWS National Ice Cream, Gelato and Sorbet Competition will be judged in
May 2011.
2011 Masterclass Series
Following the sell-out success of the inaugural RQFWS Masterclass held in conjunction
with the 2010 Beer Show, the RNA is organising a series of masterclasses in cheese,
wine and beer for 2011. The classes will offer the public a unique opportunity to learn
from the best in the business.

Hef
Burleigh Brewing Company, West Burleigh QLD
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1:19PM. 13 August 2010 Ekka.
Animal Boulevard.
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OUR FUTURE

RNA SHOWGROUNDS REGENERATION—HISTORY IN THE MAKING

Overview
The approval by the Urban Land Development Authority (ULDA) of the $2.9 billion
15 year RNA Showgrounds Master Plan in November 2010 signalled the culmination
of seven years of vision, planning and execution. From a long term goal of the RNA
Council in 2003 to construction of stage one set to commence in 2011, the RNA
Showgrounds is set to be transformed into a lifestyle and cultural hub for the
community to access all year round. One of the key reasons for redeveloping the
RNA Showgrounds is to generate year round, seven days a week vitality throughout
the precinct for use by the community. The regeneration will preserve the historic
character of existing facilities, while creating a new and unique sense of place for
all Queenslanders.
A series of special public spaces, connected by a network of lanes, streets and
bikeways, will strike the perfect balance between a thriving Ekka, a year round
events program and a vibrant new mixed use urban village community.

Key facts
Size
22 hectares and represents the largest Brownfield development of its kind in
Australia. Project includes 340,000m2 of new residential, commercial and retail
buildings, together with an additional 76,000m2—as envisaged in the RNA’s Master
Plan approved by the ULDA—on RNA retained land.
Investment
The project value including RNA facilities and new residential/commercial/retail
development is estimated at $2.9 billion. This is funded primarily by Lend Lease
and through a $65 million loan from the Queensland Treasury Corporation.
Economic benefits / job creation
The regeneration project is expected to deliver $300 million per annum in economic
benefits to Queensland, while supporting Brisbane’s future economic and population
growth by creating at least 2,000 jobs a year over the life of the project.
Transport
Transport infrastructure projects planned or currently underway in the local area, such
as Airport Link and Northern Busway will make the RNA Showgrounds more accessible
to the community.
Construction
Staged construction over 15 years, scheduled to begin in April 2011 with stage
one including major works to the Industrial Pavilion transforming it into a convention
and exhibition centre. The annual Royal Queensland Show will continue to operate
throughout the life of the project.
Support
The regeneration of the RNA Showgrounds has the bi-partisan support of the
Queensland Government, State Opposition, Brisbane City Council, the Federal
Government and Federal Opposition plus many within Brisbane’s business,
agriculture, industry and community sectors.
30
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Construction on the world-class $2.9 billion 
15 year RNA Showgrounds Master Plan is set 
to start in 2011.

The master plan
The RNA Showgrounds Master Plan will combine the site’s rich history with its future
potential. The regeneration will ensure the site becomes a destination synonymous
with events, fashion, design, lifestyle and culture, hosting world-class events and
shows all year round. The master plan includes:
•• A rebuilt Industrial Pavilion to create a world-class exhibition/convention centre.
•• A new Fresh Food Market.
•• 340,000m2 of new residential, commercial and retail development located
on 5.5ha around the extremities of the RNA site.
•• New large animal pavilions.
•• Retention of important Heritage elements.
•• Softening the boundaries of the RNA Showgrounds to open up the space
to the community.
•• Creating open and green spaces within the site.
•• Upgrading the pavilions, ovals and stands.
•• Linking neighbouring precincts and suburbs with cycle and walking paths.
•• Providing a hotel to accommodate Brisbane’s business and tourist visitors.
•• Creating open and green spaces to ensure a sense of tranquillity within the site.
•• An urban community consisting of commercial, retail and residential buildings.
Project stages
The RNA Showgrounds Regeneration involves a series of stages over 15 years
including:
Stage 1 major works projected to include:
•• Industrial Pavilion to be transformed into a 22,000m2 $65 million convention
and exhibition centre over two levels.
•• $7 million in enabling infrastructure works to improve stormwater and
sewerage works.
•• Design and development of Fresh Food Markets.
•• Design and development of Grand Parade and Ekka Plaza.
•• Design and development of Lend Lease Residential Towers.
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7:47AM. 7 August 2010 Ekka.
Early morning at the Main Arena.
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“

	The approval by the Urban Land Development Authority
of the $2.9 billion 15 year RNA Showgrounds Master Plan in
November 2010 signalled the culmination of seven years
of vision, planning and execution.”

New exhibition and convention centre
The project involves
The transformation of the Industrial Pavilion into the new RNA convention and
exhibition centre will provide an additional 6,000m2 of floor space (totalling
approximately 22,000m2) by incorporating an additional level 1 suspended floor
which will be used to house extra events and shows throughout the year, as well
as showbags during the Ekka.
The refurbished Industrial Pavilion will include two separate levels, which will
accommodate the following:
Ground Level
•• A new car park which will ultimately accommodate approximately 280 cars
•• Entry lobby/foyer providing access from Ekka Plaza
•• Repair and workshop areas to support the operations of the facility
Level 1
•• Main exhibition hall
•• Meeting rooms
•• Board rooms
•• Inhouse catering facilities
Energising the Ekka
New facilities will ensure the Royal Queensland Show (Ekka) remains one of the
biggest and best events in the nation. The redevelopment will secure the Ekka’s
location at the RNA Showgrounds, making Brisbane the only Royal Show in the
country to maintain its country and city links by holding the show right here at its
original inner city location. It will also ensure that handlers can continue to stay
in close proximity to their prize-winning animals, with new state of the art large
animal facilities and a new level of comfort.
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OUR ENGAGEMENT

2010ONLINEENTRIESUSAGE
/Total Entries Received
/Entries Submitted Online %

1,936
82.54%

Royal Queensland
Wine Show

1,571
81.92%

Overview
Since its inception the RNA has actively showcased and promoted the state’s
agricultural, business and industrial sectors through education, innovation, public
relations and marketing. From engaging the public through the state’s most loved
event each year, the Ekka, to adopting proactive educational initiatives designed
to educate consumers of all ages on where their food and fibre comes from.
To staging competitions which seek to reward those who produce our nation’s
finest food and wine to utilising the latest communication and marketing tools.
For decades the way to engage the public mostly revolved around traditional
forms of media—today the landscape has changed dramatically. The rise and
rise of social media has transformed how the public chooses to access and share
information. Utilising the latest online communication and marketing trends is
vital to successfully engaging the public in the 21 st century.

Highlights
Social media and marketing

Stud Beef Cattle

591
77.83%
Showjumping

1,155
67.62%

Stud Horses

2,644
66.68%

Canine
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For the 2010 Ekka, social media marketing was utilised to target and connect
with the youth market and other consumers via facebook, twitter and the new
look Ekka website. The aim was to interact and generate positive content to
encourage attendance and generate referrals and endorsements to friends
to reach broader audiences for activation. This social media marketing
complimented a tactical mainstream advertising campaign which promoted
more food options, interactive experiences with animals/country, Ekka traditions
and the night time program. A fifth youth segment was targeted via messages
relating to sideshow alley and showbags through facebook and twitter.
The tagline ‘Magic Every Time’ was developed to foster the intrinsic emotional
connection to the show and encourage those who only come once every few
years to return to the Ekka annually.

“

For decades the way to engage the public mostly revolved around
traditional forms of media—today the landscape has changed
dramatically. The rise and rise of social media has transformed
how the public chooses to access and share information.”

Educating for tomorrow

The 2010 Ekka website incorporated new
features such as facebook like buttons, Open
X Advertising software and video and photo
galleries. Between July 8 and August 14 it
attracted 455,550 visits with the average
visitor viewing 15 pages and spending
between 7 and 55 minutes online.

This year the RNA’s commitment to education resulted in thousands of extra
students participating in key learning initiatives. The RNA Career and Training
Expo attracted nearly 400 students who were able to hear first hand from
employers about careers in the rural sector. Held two days before the Ekka
commenced, the expo featured 18 exhibitors including the Bureau of Meteorology,
Queensland Tourism Council, Australian Meat Industry Council, Manufacturing
Skills Australia and SEQ Water.

FILM COMPETITION
By the end of show, the Ekka twitter
account had 1,662 followers and followed
1,975 people. It acted as a support for the
facebook page with direct messages sent
to new followers to generate conversation
and engagement.

The official Ekka facebook page attracted
almost 8,000 fans, known as ‘likers’, who
also actively embraced a special application
feature which encouraged them to share
their top three Ekka experiences and in
return go into a draw to win Ekka tickets.
This created a viral marketing effect,
displaying the users top three choices
on their profile and in their news feed
in order for their friends to view it and
add the application to win tickets. As the
average facebook user has 130 friends,
the application generated a projected
advertising reach of 1,242,891 people.

For the first time the RNA staged a special competition to unearth
the next generation of budding filmmakers. The Energex Race Around
Ekka set competing schools the challenge to film, edit and produce
a 60 second short movie highlighting the sights and sounds of Ekka in
just 48 hours. 15 schools entered with Indooroopilly State High School
taking out the first prize of $2,500. This unique competition was the
brainchild of the RNA in conjunction with Queensland University of
Technology’s Creative Industries Faculty and the Queensland branch
of the Australian Teachers of Media. The films now feature on the Ekka
website and the competition is set to become an annual event.
13,000 HIT THE TRAIL!
During the 10 days of Ekka, visitors watched as more than 13,000
schoolchildren made their way around 19 interactive experiences
designed to educate them on where their food and fibre comes from.
An initiative of the RNA, Brisbane City Council Ekka Learning Trail
attracted an extra 4,000 students in 2010, a 44 per cent increase from
9,000 in 2009. It remains the most popular learning tool for students
during the Show.
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2:50PM. 10 August 2010 Ekka.
Getting ready for the Show.
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38

OUR GOVERNANCE

RNA EXECUTIVE COUNCIL

Allan G F Warby OAM
RNA President

Daniel (Dan) L O’Connor
Junior Vice-President

Allan Warby OAM became the RNA President in
2010 after serving as a Councillor for 38 years,
the last seven as Senior Vice-President. He was
awarded an Order of Australia Medal in 2006
for service to primary industry through the RNA
and to horse racing in Surat and Dalby. Married
to Margot, the couple have four children, Susan,
Robert, Anna and Dugald and recently retired
to Buderim on the Sunshine Coast after running
the 6,070ha family cattle property Billinbah, at
Glenmorgan. In addition to Billinbah, the Warby
family also has another Glenmorgan property,
the 1,620ha Bombine, which is run by Allan’s son
Robert and his wife Virginia. Allan, now aged
70, is part of a fifth generation farming family
which has a long association with the RNA.
His involvement since 1972 has seen the Royal
Queensland Show’s cattle competition grow to
become the biggest in Australia.

DipTchng BCAE BEdSt Qld LLB QUT LLM Qld FAIM MAICD

David Thomas
Senior Vice-President

Catherine Sinclair
Honorary Treasurer

BCom LLB Hons Qld

BSc MA Illinois FAICD FAIM

David Thomas joined the RNA Council in 2002
and was elected to the position of Junior VicePresident in 2006 and in 2010 to Senior VicePresident. He is Chair of the RNA’s Development
and Planning; Woodchop; and Entries
Committees and is a member of the Appeals
and Disciplinary; Space and Letting; Veterinary;
Catering and House; and Industry Committees.
David is a Member and the alternate Chair of
the Joint Management Committee for the RNA
Showgrounds Redevelopment. A solicitor by
profession, David is senior partner at Minter
Ellison Lawyers in Brisbane and has more than
25 years experience as a dispute resolution
lawyer with a broad ranging commercial
practice. David acts on matters throughout
Australia; reflecting the increasing nature of
disputes which cross geographic boundaries
and legal jurisdictions. David is Chair of the
Queensland Maritime Museum and a director
of The Society of The Sacred Advent Schools
Pty Ltd, the trustee of St Margaret’s and St
Aidans Schools. David is an Adjunct Professor
at Murdoch University.

Management consultant Catherine Sinclair
joined the RNA Council in 2007 and in March this
year was elected to the position of Honorary
Treasurer. Catherine brings with her extensive
professional experience in corporate sector
strategic planning, systems and human resource
development. She has specific experience as
a Board Director in Transport and the Arts
and as a tribunal member in the Primary
Industry Sector. Current positions include
Director, Southern Regional Water Pipeline;
Director, Queensland Bulk Water Authority;
Director, Frontline Defence Services; and
Director of The Consultancy Bureau Pty Ltd.
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Dan O’Connor is a Barrister-at-Law, Chief
Executive of the Bar Association of Queensland
and Secretary of the Australian Bar Association.
He has been a RNA Councillor since 2000 and
served as Honorary Treasurer between 2000
and 2006. He is actively involved in the RNA
and oversees many aspects of Show planning
including: Chairman of Space and Letting;
Entertainment; and Appeals and Disciplinary
Committees and a member of Horse and Arena;
Joint Stock; Woodchop; and Catering and
House Committees. Mr O’Connor is involved in a
number of charitable organisations, in particular
he is Chairman of the Residential Committee
of the Salvation Army Red Shield Appeal, is a
Trustee of the Edinburgh Declaration Trust and
is a member of the Council of the Anglican
Church Grammar School.

Philip S Harpham
BVSc Qld

A veterinarian and grazier by profession, Philip
Harpham has been a RNA Councillor since 2001.
He is a member of the Executive Committee and
chairs the Dairy Cattle, Goat, Pig and Deer; Beef
Cattle and Boer Goats; Veterinary; and Young
Judges Committees. He is also a member of the
Development and Planning; Meat Hall; Food and
Wine and QCAS National Finals Committees.
Angus G Adnam
Livestock exporter, Director of Australian
Livestock Exporters Council, and Managing
Director of AAA Livestock Services Pty Ltd,
Angus Adnam has brought a wealth of
experience and energy to the RNA Council
since his appointment in November 2005.
A RNA Steward and Honorary Council Steward
since 1978, his Council responsibilities include
participation as member on the Executive;
Beef Cattle and Boer Goats; Joint Stock; and
Fruit District Exhibits and Youth Exhibits; and
Industry Committees. He is Chairman of the
Food and Wine; Meat Hall; and Catering and
House Committees.
Jan M McMillan
A Thoroughbred breeder, national and
international horse judge, owner of racehorses
and many show horses, Jan McMillan has
brought considerable expertise to the RNA
Council since her election in 1997. In 2007,
Jan became the first female ringmaster in
the history of the RNA. Jan is currently a
member of the Executive Committee and also
chairs the Horse and Arena, and Quilts Across
Queensland Committees. She is a member of
the Entertainment; Entries; Veterinary; Food
and Wine; and Joint Stock Committees. Jan is
proprietor of the Australian Show Horse Hall
of Fame and is a member of the Queensland
Racehorse Owners Association, Sunshine Coast
Turf Club, Brisbane Racing Club, deputy chairman
of the Licenses Assistance Association and is
a committee member of the Gympie Turf Club.
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OUR GOVERNANCE
RNA COUNCIL

Alastair D Bassingthwaighte

Tim Fairfax AM FAICD

A grazier and RNA Stud Cattle Exhibitor from
Yarrawonga-Waco Santa Gertrudis Stud, Alastair
Bassingthwaighte has served on the RNA
Council since 1981. He is an active member of
the Beef Cattle and Boer Goats; Joint Stock; and
Meat Hall Committees.

Tim Fairfax joined the RNA Council in 2004
and is chairman of the Flower and Garden and
Pisciculture Committee and is a member of the
Appeals and Disciplinary; and Audit Committees.
A grazier and philanthropist, Mr Fairfax is
Chairman of the National Portrait Gallery, Trustee
of the Queensland Art Gallery, President of the
Queensland Art Gallery Foundation, Chairman
of the Salvation Army Brisbane Advisory
Board, Chairman of the Vincent Fairfax Family
Foundation, Chairman of the Tim Fairfax Family
Foundation, Director of the Foundation for
Rural and Regional Renewal and Councillor of
Philanthropy Australia.

Lionel J Blumel
Lionel Blumel has been involved with the RNA
as a Steward since 1986 and was elected to
the RNA Council in November 2006. Lionel is
Chairman of the Canine Committee and in 2009
managed the newly established Feline section
of competition. Lionel works with other members
of the RNA Council as a member of the Animal
Boulevard; Joint Stock; Development and
Veterinary Committees. Lionel is also a Councillor
of the Canine Control Council (Queensland)
which services the Dog World of Queensland.
He is a working member of the Samford Show
Society and past President of the National
Dalmatian Council of Australia.
Tony M Carew
Tony Carew is a Business Improvement
Consultant and was elected to the RNA Council
in February 2004. Tony is a Ring Councillor and
Member of the Catering and House; Space and
Letting; Food and Wine; Joint Stock; and Horse
and Arena Committees. Tony is also co-convenor
of the Future Directions Committee.
Ross H Douglas
A RNA Councillor since 2004, retired grazier
Ross Douglas is Chairman of the Animal
Boulevard; and Horse Breeds Expo Committees.
He is a member of the Appeals and Disciplinary;
Finance; Audit; Education and the Future; and
Joint Stock Committees.

Ian Ferguson BA Qld JP (Qual)
Ian is a longstanding member of the RNA, who
has previously served as Honorary Ring Steward
and Honorary Council Steward. He stewarded
in the horse section and assisted the running
of the night program for a number of years.
A Councillor since 2007, he currently serves on
the Entertainment; Young Judges; and Horse and
Arena Committees. Ian retired as an Inspector
of Police at the Ethical Standards Command and
now undertakes a range of community, hobby
and study activities. He has a broad background
of community involvement, currently as a
member of the Mount Gravatt Showgrounds
Trust and as chairperson of Carindale PCYC.
Michael N Grieve BEd NT DipEd BCAE
Michael Grieve was elected to the RNA Council
in September 2006. An education professional
and Thoroughbred breeder, his roles outside
the RNA include Executive Member of the
Queensland Racehorse Owners Association
and Committee Member and Ringmaster of
the Ipswich Show Society.
Susan J Hennessey
Susan Hennessey brings to the RNA Council
considerable expertise in the area of fine arts.
A retired interior designer and past RNA Exhibitor
and Steward, she was elected to Council in
2001 and served on the Executive Committee
from 2006 to March 2010. Mrs Hennessey chairs
the Fine Arts Committee, incorporating fine
art, craft, cookery and photography, and is a
member of the Catering and House Committee.
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Peter Kenny

Dr Bill Ryan MB BS Qld FRACS

Peter Kenny was appointed to the RNA Council
in December 2008 and is a member of the
Dairy Committee. Peter is an immediate past
President of AgForce. He is a keen advocate for
adopting a big picture approach to agripolitics
and has driven projects such as the Every Family
Needs a Farmer campaign and the Blueprint for
the Bush. Peter is a member of the Cape York
Heritage Committee, represents Queensland
agriculture on the Premier's Advisory Council
on Climate Change and is Chair of the Expert
Panel looking at the Social Impact of Drought
in Australia for the Federal Government. He is a
Director on the Board of QR National Limited and
Chair of Primary Industries Week Inc. He is Chair
of Biosecurity Qld, a member of the National
Biosecurity Advisory Council and a member of
the National Landcare Advisory Council.

Dr Bill Ryan is an orthopaedic spinal surgeon
and has served as a RNA Councillor since
2000. He is Chairman of the Poultry; and Wine
and Brandy Committees and a member of the
Catering and House; Fine Foods; Joint Stock;
and Animal Boulevard Committees. Bill has
championed the development, growth and
continued success of the Taste of Queensland
Kitchen in the Woolworths Fresh Food Pavilion,
which showcases Queensland produce featuring
food and wine. Prior to joining the RNA Council,
Bill was an Honorary Council Steward for the
Royal Queensland Wine Show.

Professor Peter Little
LLB LLM Qld PhD Bond FAIM FCPA

Peter Little was elected to the RNA Council in
March 2009 and is Chairman of the Education
and the Future Committee. Professor Little
is also a member of the Finance; Audit; and
Development and Planning Committees and
is co-convenor of the Future Directions
Committee. The Executive Dean of the Faculty
of Business at the Queensland University
of Technology, he holds a Bachelor of Laws
and Master of Laws from the University of
Queensland and PhD from Bond University Law
School. He is a Fellow, Australian Institute of
Management; Fellow, CPA Australia; and Fellow,
Queensland Academy of Arts and Sciences.
Peter is a Director of Ormiston College and
special counsel to McCullough Lawyers Brisbane.
Gary Noller
A third generation grazier on the Darling Downs,
Gary was elected to the RNA Council in March
2010. Before becoming a Councillor Gary was an
active supporter of the RNA having judged the
beef cattle led steer competitions at a number of
Royal Queensland Shows and as a member of the
RNA Beef Cattle and Boer Goats Committee, of
which he is still a member. Gary is also a member
of the Entries; Joint Stock; Meat Hall and Young
Judges Committees.

Joan F Scott BA Qld JP (Qual)
As an active member of the RNA Council since
1996, Joan Scott has also served on the Bungil
Shire Council and Rural Lands Protection Board
and co-authored In Champagne Country and
Fight for a Just Cause. She chairs the Fleece
Breeds Committee and is a member of the
Appeals and Disciplinary; Entertainment;
Catering and House; Education and the Future;
Young Judges; Joint Stock; Meat Hall; and
Animal Boulevard Committees.
Walter (Harold) H Thompson JP (Qual)
Harold Thompson is a farmer and Director
of the Illawarra Cattle Society of Australia and
Australian Red Dairy Breed Inc (Life Member).
He joined the RNA Council in 2000 and is
currently a member of the Entries; Veterinary;
Dairy Cattle, Goat, Pig and Deer; and Joint Stock
Committees. A life member of the RNA since
he was 18 years of age, he is a champion of the
dairy cattle industry and the families and people
who work within it. His family commitment
spans more than 80 years of exhibiting and
association with the RNA (four generations
being Life Members).
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OUR GOVERNANCE
RNA MANAGEMENT

Jonathan Tunny
Chief Executive
BBus GradDipAdvAcctg QIT GMQ AGSM FCA FAICD

A Chartered Accountant by profession, Jonathan
Tunny has been a member of the Brisbane
business community for more than 30 years.
A long association with the RNA led to his
election to the RNA Council in 2001 and his
subsequent appointment to Chief Executive
in 2002. Since then, Jonathan has successfully
steered the RNA towards a profitable and secure
future by encouraging the implementation of
innovative, sustainable and commercially viable
initiatives across the Association’s business units.
Designed to support the redevelopment and the
continued operation of the RNA Showgrounds,
this new business model will also ensure that the
Ekka is able to continue to grow and develop as
Queensland’s largest event.
Brendan Christou
Chief Operating Officer
BBus QUT CPA MBA Curtin

•
•
•
•
•

RNA operations
Financial management
Information technology
Member services
RQS and RQFWS coordination of competitions,
judges and stewards

Certified Practicing Accountant (CPA) Brendan
Christou commenced at the RNA in March 2004
as the organisation’s Financial Controller. His
role has evolved considerably since then, with
increased responsibility seeing him promoted
to Corporate Services Manager in 2008 and
most recently to Chief Operating Officer in
2009. Brendan’s previous experience spans
across the retail, engineering and financial
services industries. He completed his Master of
Business Administration from Curtin University
in 2008. Brendan is a member of the Brisbane
Development Association’s Executive Committee
and is Treasurer for the Ambassadors of
St John’s Cathedral.
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Steven Grimes
Project Director, RNA Showgrounds
Redevelopment
BE Qld

•P
 roject planning, management and delivery
• Stakeholder communication and consultation
Steven joined the RNA in September 2009 to
oversee the Association’s role with its project
partner, Lend Lease, in the delivery of the $2.9
billion redevelopment of the RNA Showgrounds.
Steven brings with him more than 23 years
professional experience in Australia, the United
Kingdom and the United States delivering award
winning, large scale, mixed use developments.
Previous positions include Team Leader for
Lend Lease Water Alliance on the Gold Coast,
Development Operations Manager and Project
Director for Actus Lend Lease in the United States.
Martin Cichero
Manager, Facilities
BSurv UQ Grad Cert(Facility Management) QUT JP (Qual)

•
•
•
•

Asset management
Maintenance
Gardening
Stores

Martin joined the RNA in July 2009 as Facility
Manager, coordinating the Association’s building,
cleaning, maintenance and landscaping services
while overseeing the RNA’s 22 full-time facility
staff, who combine to maintain the Association’s
assets and provide support services to all events.
His previous experience includes positions in
Survey and Development consultancy companies
and the Department of Natural Resources.
Martin has spent over a decade maintaining and
operating infrastructure for two of Australia’s
largest residential communities, Sanctuary Cove
and Hope Island Resort.

Veronica Carew
Manager, Communications

Laura Dodd
Manager, Organisational Development

• Integrated communication strategies and
public relations initiatives
• Media and issues management
• Management of internal and external
communications

GradDip HR Monash

Veronica joined the RNA in April 2010, bringing
with her 16 years experience in media and public
relations. A strategic corporate communications
manager Veronica has nine years experience in
the not-for-profit sector at a state and national
level developing strategies and campaigns to
promote the interests of agriculture, education
and the over 50s in the media. Previously
Veronica spent eight years working as a journalist
and editor in the Australian print media.
Garry Ashby
Manager, Event Production
BEd Studies JCU DipT NBCAE DipHor JCU

• Event coordination and management
• Event logistics
• Car park management
As manager of the RNA’s Event Production
team, Garry Ashby oversees all event
coordination, creation and packaging taking
place on the RNA Showgrounds. He also
manages all car parking on the grounds
throughout the year. Garry joined the RNA
management team in 2004 after nine years in
a similar role at the Cairns Show Association
and nine years as Treasurer and Director of the
Queensland Chamber of Agricultural Societies.

•
•
•
•
•

Recruitment and Workforce Planning
Learning and Development
Industrial Relations
Change Management
Occupational Health and Safety

Laura Dodd joined the RNA team in February
2008, bringing with her experience from a
number of significant companies including
The Just Group and Channel Four Television
(UK). Laura’s responsibility is to provide total
organisational development support to the RNA
and its employees, with particular future focus
on the RNA Redevelopment. Laura is currently
completing her Masters in Organisational
Leadership through Monash University.
Don Savage
Manager, Royal Queensland Show Leasing
Assoc.Dip.E&C SBIT TVOCP

•P
 romotion, coordination and management of
exhibitor, carnival and retail leasing for Ekka
• Coordination and management of RNA
operated catering for ‘out of Show’ events
Don Savage joined the RNA team in early 2006
after an extensive career spanning 40 years
with Network Ten in Brisbane. During this time
he managed the network’s broadcast on-air
operation; was Chief Engineer for almost ten
years; and Ten’s Pavilion Manager for the
duration of World Expo 88 at South Bank.
Justin Grace
Manager, Marketing and Sponsorship
BBus, BA QUT

Justin joined the RNA in January 2011 and
has a dual qualification from QUT—Bachelor of
Business, majoring in Advertising and Bachelor
of Arts, majoring in Media Studies. He has
six years marketing experience in the retail,
leisure and food industry. In his previous role as
Executive Manager—Communications at Royal
Children’s Hospital Foundation, his responsibility
was the portfolio of media and sponsorship
partnerships within the private, media and
government organisations.
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OFFICE BEARERS
Patron

Hon Councillors

Her Excellency
Ms Penelope Wensley AC
Governor of Queensland

A G Brimblecombe AM
W T Cummins
V E Edwards OAM
G J Hart AM
W R Lenehan
C H Meagher AM
L K Morris
L F Robertson
D C Sturrock
M F Talbot
B D Vickers
P F Wadley

President
A G F Warby OAM
Vice-Presidents
D G Thomas and D L O’Connor
Honorary Treasurer
C J Sinclair
Council
A G Adnam
A D Bassingthwaighte
L J Blumel
T M Carew
R H Douglas
T V Fairfax AM
I W Ferguson
M N Grieve
P S Harpham
S J Hennessey
P C Kenny
P Little
J M McMillan
G Noller
W E Ryan
J F Scott
W H Thompson

Chief Executive
J P Tunny
Auditor
C Skelton of BDO Audit (QLD) Pty Ltd

ABN 41 417 513 726
RNA Showgrounds
600 Gregory Terrace
Bowen Hills
Locked Bag 1010 Albion 4010
Telephone: 07 3852 1831
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF MEMBERS

The Annual General Meeting (AGM) of members of The Royal National Agricultural and Industrial Association of Queensland (RNA or the
Association) will be held in The Auditorium at the RNA Showgrounds, 600 Gregory Terrace, Bowen Hills, Brisbane on Friday 25 March 2011,
commencing at 9.00am.
Business
• Confirm Minutes of Annual General Meeting of Members held on 26 March 2010
• Receive and adopt President’s and Councillors’ Reports and Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
• Election of Patron
• Election of President and two Vice-Presidents for ensuing year
• Election of nine Members of Council for a two year term
• Such other business as may arise in accordance with the Rules

Jonathan Tunny
Chief Executive
11 February 2011

In accordance with the Rules of the Association, the following members of Council retire at the AGM and are eligible for re-election:
President
Mr A G F Warby OAM
Senior Vice President
Mr D G Thomas
Junior Vice President
Mr D L O’Connor
Members of Council
Messrs A D Bassingthwaighte, T M Carew, R H Douglas, T V Fairfax AM, Mrs S J Hennessey, Messrs I W Ferguson, M N Grieve, L J Blumel 
and P C Kenny
In addition, a valid nomination for the position of Councillor has been received from Mr Chris Foster. As there are ten nominations for 
the nine available Council positions, a poll must be conducted.
The following members of Council remain in office for a further twelve months
Mrs J F Scott, Ms J McMillan, Mr G Noller, Dr W E Ryan, Messrs W H Thompson, P S Harpham, Ms C J Sinclair, Mr A G Adnam and 
Prof P C Little
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COUNCILLORS’ REPORT

The Councillors present their report together with the financial report of The Royal National Agricultural and Industrial Association of
Queensland for the year ended 31 December 2010 and the auditor’s report thereon.
Details of Councillors and the number of Council meetings (including meetings of Executive Committee) attended by each Councillor of the
Association during the financial year are:

COUNCILLOR

Note

Year of
Appointment

Council Meetings

Executive 
Committee Meetings

A

B

A

B

Dr V E Edwards OAM

1

1987

2

2

3

3

Mr A G Adnam

2

2005

11

12

8

11

Mr A D Bassingthwaighte

3

1981

10

12

1

1

Mr L J Blumel

3

2006

12

12

6

6

2004

10

12

-

-

Mr T M Carew
Mr R H Douglas

3

2004

10

12

1

1

Mr T V Fairfax AM

3

2004

9

12

1

1

Mr I W Ferguson

3

2007

12

12

1

1

Mr M N Grieve

3

2006

12

12

1

1

2001

12

12

13

14

Mr P S Harpham
Mrs S J Hennessey

4

2001

10

12

2

3

Mr P C Kenny

3

2008

11

12

2

2

Prof P C Little

3

2009

11

12

1

4

Mrs J M McMillan

2

1997

9

12

8

11

Mr Gary Noller

5

2010

7

10

1

1

Mr D L O’Connor

2000

9

12

11

14

Dr W E Ryan

2000

10

12

1

1

1996

11

12

1

1

Ms C J Sinclair

2007

10

12

14

14

Mr D G Thomas

2002

10

12

13

14

Mr W H Thompson

2000

10

12

-

-

Mr A G F Warby OAM

1972

11

12

14

14

Mrs J F Scott

3

A – Number of meetings attended
B – Number of meetings eligible to attend
Notes:
1. Retired 26 March 2010
2. Appointed to Executive Committee 26 March 2010
3. Attendance at Executive Committee by invitation only
4. Resigned from Executive Committee 26 March 2010
5. Appointed 26 March 2010
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COUNCILLORS’ REPORT
continued

Objectives and strategy for
achievement
The RNA’s mission is to maintain the
heritage and to further promote and
encourage the understanding and
development of the agricultural, pastoral,
horticultural, industrial, manufacturing
and cultural resources of the State of
Queensland.
The RNA’s vision is to provide a vibrant
destination with leading exhibition and
event facilities.
The RNA achieves its vision and mission
through staging the Royal Queensland
Show, operating a venue hire & event
management business and performing
leasing and asset management.
The RNA has also embarked on a
redevelopment program to transform the
Showgrounds into a vibrant mixed use
precinct that is utilised all year round.
The redevelopment will also provide
the Association with new and improved
exhibition facilities which form a significant
part of the RNA strategy.

Principal activities
The principal activities of the Association
are to provide facilities and personnel to
promote and encourage the development,
public interest and improvement of
the agricultural, pastoral, horticultural,
industrial, manufacturing and cultural
resources of the state of Queensland.
The RNA achieves its objectives via a
number of means, however its primary
method is through the staging of the Royal
Queensland Show in August each year. 
The Show is the State’s premier exhibition
of the primary industries of Queensland.
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Performance measurement
The surplus/(deficit) from operations was
$450,714 (2009: ($3,186,862)).

Councillors’ remuneration
Councillors receive no remuneration for
their services.

Indemnification and insurance of
Councillors and Officers
The Association has agreed to reimburse
the reasonable costs (including but not
limited to legal fees) incurred by any
current or past Councillor or Officer in
relation to the performance of his or her
duties as a Councillor or Officer of the
Association provided:
(i) t he person is not charged with any
offence, or if charged, is subsequently
acquitted of all charges;
(ii) a
 ny investigations or hearings do not
reveal conduct by that person which
constitutes conduct which breaches
that person’s fiduciary relationship with
the Association whether that person is
charged or not or convicted or not;
(iii) the person’s conduct is not unbecoming
of a person holding the position, which
that person held at the time of the
conduct.
The level of such reimbursement is to be
set by the Executive Committee.

Insurance premiums
The Association has paid insurance
premiums for “Councillors’ and Officers’
and Supplementary Legal Expense
Insurance” since the end of the 
previous year.

The Councillors have not included details 
of the nature of the liabilities covered or 
the amount of the premium paid in respect
of the Councillors’ and Officers’ liability and
legal expenses insurance contracts, as such
disclosure is prohibited under the terms of
the contract.

Auditor’s independence
declaration
The auditor’s independence declaration
forms part of the Councillors’ Report and
can be found on page 49.

Dated at Brisbane this 11 February 2011
Signed in accordance with a resolution of
the Council.

A G F Warby OAM
President

C J Sinclair
Honorary Treasurer

DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY CHRIS SKELTON TO
THE COUNCILLORS OF THE ROYAL NATIONAL AGRICULTURAL
AND INDUSTRIAL ASSOCIATION OF QUEENSLAND

To the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of:
• the auditor independence requirements of Australian Professional Ethical Pronouncements in relation to the audit; and
• any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

BDO Audit (QLD) Pty Ltd

C J Skelton
Director
Brisbane 
Date: 11 February 2011
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

The Royal National Agricultural and
Industrial Association of Queensland 
(the Association) is incorporated under 
the Royal National Agricultural and
Industrial Association of Queensland Act
1971 (the Act) and operates under the
provisions of the Act.
The Association has established Objects,
Rules and By-laws to effectively conduct 
its affairs and operations.
Under the Act, the Minister must approve
any changes to the Objects and Rules of
the Association and receive the annual
financial reports. The Association cannot
sell its land without the approval of the
Governor in Council.
While not required under the Act, the
Association endeavours where possible to
conduct its business to the standards and
requirements of a public company, and in
compliance with the spirit of applicable
legislation.

The Council
The Association is governed by a Council
that is constituted by the President,
the Senior Vice-President, Junior VicePresident and eighteen members elected
from the general body of members.
The Council meets monthly, or as required.
With the exception of Junior and Corporate
members, all other members of the
Association are permitted to hold office
and vote at any meetings of the members
of the Association.
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Councillors
Councillors are elected for a two year term. 
The Council may appoint an eligible member 
to fill a casual vacancy. A Councillor may
not seek election or re-election after
attaining 72 years of age.
The President, the two Vice-Presidents 
and nine Councillors are elected each year
by the members.
Honorary Councillors may be appointed
in recognition of past outstanding service
to the Association. Honorary Councillors
receive no remuneration, and are not
entitled to attend or vote at Council
Meetings.

Committees
An Executive Committee is established
under the Objects and Rules and has the
control of the financial administration,
management, planning, strategic
development and general business of the
Association. It comprises the President, two
Vice-Presidents, Honorary Treasurer and
three members of Council. The Executive
Committee meets monthly or as required.
The Executive Committee or Council may
from time to time appoint Committees
consisting of such members of Council
and other persons as it may decide. A
Committee has the power to appoint a
sub-committee of its members and other
persons for the purpose of considering
such matters referred to it as it considers
desirable.

Councillors are elected annually to
Committee membership by the Council.
Most Councillors serve on one or more
Committees. Some Committees have
invited external members who possess
particular skills or expertise. The President
and Vice-Presidents are ex-officio members
of all Committees.
Committees are established to assist in
the conduct of the Association’s general
operations—Finance; Audit; Marketing;
Development; House; Space and Letting;
and Future Directions.
In addition to the Sectional Committees,
a number of other Committees are
established to assist in the general conduct
of the Royal Queensland Show—Entries;
Veterinary; Joint Stock; and Appeals and
Disciplinary.

Chief Executive
The Executive Committee appoints a Chief
Executive to manage the affairs of the
Association.

Remuneration
Councillors and Honorary Councillors
receive no remuneration. They may be
reimbursed for reasonable expenses
incurred in attending meetings of the
Council.
The remuneration and terms of
employment of the Chief Executive and
senior executives is determined by the
Executive Committee, and takes into
account current comparable market
remuneration and the desire to attract 
and retain quality staff with appropriate
skills and experience.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
continued

Audit and compliance

Reporting

The Association is subject to independent
external audit.

The Council reports to members through
publication of an Annual Report and
financial statements, and at an Annual
General Meeting and periodically through
newsletters and other means.

Internal controls
Internal control systems are established to
minimise risk and promote efficiency.
The Council receives comprehensive
monthly financial and operational reports,
and measures performance against detailed
annual budgets.

As required by the Act, the Association
also submits a certified copy of the Annual
Report to the Chief Executive of the
relevant Government Department.

The Executive Committee reports and
distributes its meeting minutes to each
Council meeting.
Funds under management are subject to
investment policies that minimise risk and
seek fair returns.

Risk management
The Association has adopted a range of
risk management practices to address
both normal business operational risk,
and those specific to the activities of the
Association—including bio-security, crowd
control, and environmental risks. These
practices include periodic and specific
external risk reviews.
Where possible, risks are externally insured.
Councillors are covered by indemnities
extended by the Act. Employees of the
Association are covered by Directors’ and
Officers’ Liability Insurance.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2010

Note

2010 $

2009 $

REVENUE
Royal Queensland Show

3

13,580,146

11,728,999

Rent from ground facilities

3

5,982,477

3,614,704

Interest revenue

3

263,454

359,977

Other Income

3

997,647

1,174,296

Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment

(15,511)

Gain/(loss) on sale of financial assets

258,821

(411,640)

150,000

150,000

21,217,034

16,621,654

Capital grants and subsidies

3

Total revenue

5,318

EXPENSES
Employee costs

4

5,419,852

5,170,349

Materials and services

5a

12,997,151

11,127,469

Depreciation and amortisation

5b

2,349,317

3,510,698

20,766,320

19,808,516

Total expenses
Net operating surplus/(deficit)

450,714

(3,186,862)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Increase in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets

4,616

984,232

Other comprehensive income for the year

4,616

984,232

Total comprehensive income for the year

455,330

(2,202,630)

The statement of comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 56 to 75.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2010

Note

2010 $

2009 $

Cash and cash equivalents

7

231,108

293,757

Trade and other receivables

8

2,291,116

1,688,449

Other financial assets

9

3,983,623

5,504,319

72,925

90,599

507,854

566,334

7,086,626

8,143,458

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories
Other assets
Total current assets
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Other financial assets

9

4,073,677

4,165,125

Intangible assets

11

320,461

216,858

Property, plant and equipment

10

19,493,777

17,260,025

Total non-current assets

23,887,915

21,642,008

Total assets

30,974,541

29,785,466

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables

12

979,849

837,021

Provisions

13

131,251

133,450

Unearned income

2,073,680

1,527,122

Total current liabilities

3,184,780

2,497,593

114,401

68,195

114,401

68,195

3,299,181

2,565,788

27,675,360

27,219,678

19,413,325

18,962,611

7,989,623

7,985,007

Trust funds

272,412

272,060

Total funds

27,675,360

27,219,678

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets

13

FUNDS
Accumulated Surplus
Reserves

The statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 56 to 75.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2010

Rain
Protection
Reserve $

Asset
Replacement
Reserve $

General
Reserve $

Asset
Revaluation
Reserve $

Accumulated
Surplus $

3,500,000

3,375,000

125,775

984,232

18,962,611

272,060

27,219,678

0

0

0

450,714

0

450,714

Balance at
31 December 2009

Trust 
Funds $

Total
Funds $

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR
Surplus/Deficit 
for the year

0

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Revaluation of
available-for-sale
financial assets

0

0

0

4,616

0

0

4,616

Total comprehensive
income

0

0

0

4,616

450,714

0

455,330

Transfer from reserve

0

0

0

0

0

352

352

3,500,000

3,375,000

125,775

988,848

19,413,325

272,412

27,675,360

Rain
Protection
Reserve $

Asset
Replacement
Reserve $

General
Reserve $

Asset
Revaluation
Reserve $

Accumulated
Surplus $

3,500,000

3,375,000

125,775

0

22,149,473

0

0

0

(3,186,862)

Balance at 31
December 2010

Balance at 31
December 2008

Trust 
Funds $
271,080

Total
Funds $
29,421,328

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR
Surplus/Deficit
for the year

0

0

(3,186,862)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Revaluation of
available-for-sale
financial assets

0

0

0

984,232

Total comprehensive
income

0

0

0

984,232

Transfer from reserve

0

0

0

0

0

980

980

3,500,000

3,375,000

125,775

984,232

18,962,611

272,060

27,219,678

Balance at 31
December 2009

0
(3,186,862)

0
0

984,232
(2,202,630)

The statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 56 to 75.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2010

Note

2010 $

2009 $

21,944,828

18,146,911

(19,548,107)

(17,643,425)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers
Payments to suppliers and employees
Interest received

263,454

327,756

Dividends received

103,778

92,828

2,763,953

924,070

0

5,318

Net cash provided by operating activities

14(ii)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Payments for property, plant and equipment
(Payments for) / proceeds from other financial assets
Net cash (used in) by investing activities

(4,702,183)

(5,177,507)

1,875,581

4,405,699

(2,826,602)

(766,490)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash held

(62,649)

157,580

Cash at the beginning of the year

293,757

136,177

231,108

293,757

Cash at the end of the year

14(i)

The statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 56 to 75.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2010

1 The Association
The Royal National Agricultural and
Industrial Association of Queensland
(the Association) is a body corporate,
incorporated under the Royal National
Agricultural and Industrial Association
of Queensland Act 1971 (the Act)
as amended.
The financial statements are presented in
the Australian currency.
The financial report was authorised for
issue in accordance with a resolution of 
the Council on 11 February 2011.

2 S
 tatement of significant
accounting policies
The significant policies which have been
adopted in the preparation of these
financial statements are:
(a) Basis of preparation
The financial statements are general
purpose financial statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards and
other authoritative pronouncements of the
Australian Accounting Standards Board 
and the Act.
The financial statements have been
prepared on an historical cost basis,
modified by the revaluation of selected
non-current assets, and financial assets and
liabilities for which the fair value basis of
accounting has been applied.
The accounting policies have been
consistently applied and, except where
there is a change in accounting policy, are
consistent with those of the previous year.
Due to the specific not for profit paragraphs
contained only in Australian Accounting
Standards, the Association can not state
that it has complied with all International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
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Unless mandatory application exists, no
new standards issued since balance date
have been applied in the preparation of this
financial report.
(b) Revenue recognition—Note 3
Revenue is recognised at the fair value
of consideration received or receivable.
Amounts disclosed are net of the returns,
trade allowances, and duties and taxes paid.
Royal Queensland Show
Royal Queensland Show and ground rental
revenue is recognised in the year it is
earned. Revenue from the sale of goods 
is recognised when the significant risks 
and rewards of ownership pass to the
buyer. This occurs when goods are
delivered to customers.
Interest revenue
Interest revenue is recognised as it accrues,
using the effective interest rate method.
Sale of non-current assets
The gain or deficit on disposal is calculated
as the difference between the carrying
amount of the asset at the time of disposal
and the net proceeds on disposal. At the
time available-for-sale assets are sold,
the cumulative revaluation gain recorded
directly in equity is recognised in the
income statement.
Other revenue
Other revenue includes revenue from
car parking, special exhibition charges,
secretarial fee, signage revenue and sundry
revenue and is recognised on an accrual
basis.
Dividends
Dividends are recognised as revenue when
the Association’s right to receive payment
is established.
Capital grants and subsidies
Capital grants and subsidies are recognised
as revenue when control is obtained,
usually upon receipt of cash.

Contribution of Assets
Income arising from the contribution of an
asset to the entity is recognised when, and
only when, all the following conditions have
been satisfied:
(a) t he entity obtains control of the
contribution or the right to receive the
contribution.
(b) it is probable that the economic
benefits comprising the contribution
will flow to the entity; and
(c) t he amount of the contribution can be
measured reliably.
Contribution income is measured at the
fair value of the contributions received
or receivable. If conditions attach to a
contribution, the recognition is deferred
until the conditions are satisfied.
(c) Income Tax
The Association is an exempt body
under Section 50–40 of the Income Tax
Assessment Act 1997 and is accordingly
not liable for income tax.
(d) Goods and services tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are
recognised net of the amount of goods 
and services tax (GST), except where 
the amount of GST incurred is not
recoverable from the Australian Taxation
Office (ATO). In these circumstances, 
the GST is recognised as part of the cost 
of acquisition of the asset or as part of 
an item of the expense.
Receivables and payables are stated with
the amount of GST included.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, 
or payable to, the ATO is included as a
current asset or liability in the balance sheet.
Cash flows are included in the statement
of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST
components of cash flows arising from
investing and financing activities which 
are recoverable from, or payable to, the
ATO are classified as operating cash flows.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2010

(e) Cash and cash equivalents—Note 7
Cash and cash equivalents are carried 
at face value of the amounts deposited 
or drawn.
(f) Trade and other receivables—Note 8
Trade receivables are recognised at original
invoice amounts less an allowance for
uncollectible amounts.
Certain trade debtors’ accounts specify a
specific due date and those accounts are
payable on that date. Other debtors which
have no specific due date for payment are
normally settled within 60 days.
The carrying amount of receivables is
reduced by the use of an allowance account
where there is objective evidence that the
Association will not be able to recover all
amounts due. Evidence of impairment may
include indications that the customer is
experiencing significant financial difficulty,
where debt collection procedures have
commenced, there is a fair probability that
the customer will be put into administration
or liquidation.
When receivables for which an impairment
has previously been recognised are
determined to be uncollectible, they are
written off against the allowance account. 
If no provision for impairment was
previously recognised, the impairment is
written off against the receivable directly.
Impairment losses arising from the use
of allowance accounts or bad debts are
recognised in the Income statement as 
part of Other Expenses.
Receivables are determined to be
uncollectible only when there is no
expectation of recovering any additional
cash. This may occur when a final
distribution has been made from
administrators / liquidators, or where
unsuccessful attempts have been made to
recover the debt through legal actions or
debt collection agencies and the prospect
of recovering any additional cash is remote.

All receivables that are neither past due
or impaired are with long standing clients
who have a good credit history with the
Association.
The carrying value less impairment
provision of trade receivables and payables
are assumed to approximate their fair
values due to their short-term nature.
No past due and no impaired
No receivables balances are impaired
receivables at year end.
Some past due but none impaired
The aging of balances that are past due 
but not impaired including balances that
are not past due is as follows:
Not past due

1,838,303

Past due 30 days

29,715

Past due 60 days

25,050

Past due 90 days and over
Total

273,602
2,166,670

No security is held for receivables balances
that are past due but not impaired.
Receivables are due from businesses whose
credit quality has been assessed and no
material concerns have been noted.
(g) Other financial assets—Note 9
Available-for-sale financial assets comprise
investments in listed and unlisted entities
and any non-derivatives that are not
classified as any other category of financial
assets, and are classified as non-current
assets (unless management intends to
dispose of the investment within 12 months
of the end of the reporting period). After
initial recognition, these investments
are measured at fair value with gains or
losses recognised in other comprehensive
income (available-for-sale investments
revaluation reserve). Where there is a
significant or prolonged decline in the
fair value of an available-for-sale financial
asset (which constitutes objective evidence
of impairment) the full amount including

any amount previously charged to other
comprehensive income is recognised
in profit or loss. Purchases and sales of
available-for-sale financial assets are
recognised on settlement date with any
change in fair value between trade date
and settlement date being recognised in
other comprehensive income. On sale, the
amount held in available-for-sale reserves
associated with that asset is recognised
in profit or loss as a reclassification
adjustment. Interest on corporate bonds
classified as available-for-sale is calculated
using the effective interest rate method 
and is recognised in finance income in
profit or loss.
Reversals of impairment losses on equity
instruments classified as available-for-sale
cannot be reversed through profit or loss.
Reversals of impairment losses on debt
instruments classified as available-for-sale
can be reversed through profit or loss
where the reversal relates to an increase
in the fair value of the debt instrument
occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised in profit or loss.
The fair value of quoted investments are
determined by reference to Securities
Exchange quoted market bid prices at
the close of business at the end of the
reporting period. For investments where
there is no quoted market price, fair value
is determined by reference to the current
market value of another instrument which
is substantially the same or is calculated
based on the expected cash flows of
the underlying net asset base of the
investment.
(h) Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost
and replacement cost. Inventories are
primarily consumable stores used by the
Association in its operations.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2010

(i)

Property, plant and equipment
—Note 10

Each class of property, plant and
equipment is carried at cost, where
applicable, any accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses.
Depreciation and amortisation
Items of property, plant and equipment
including buildings and ground
improvements are depreciated/amortised
using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives. Land is not
depreciated
Depreciation and amortisation rates and
methods and useful lives are reviewed
annually for appropriateness.
The depreciation/amortisation rates used
for each class of asset are as follows:

Buildings
and ground
improvements

2010

2009

2%–26%

2%–5%

Plant and
equipment

7%–33%

10%–20%

Substations
and electrical
equipment

5%–20%

5%

Assets are first depreciated or amortised
in the year of acquisition or in respect of
internally constructed assets in the year the
asset is completed and held ready for use.
(j)

Intangible assets—Note 11

Intangible assets consist of computer
software acquired to assist in managing
the operations of the Association. The
computer software, which is recorded at
cost, is amortised at a rate of 20%–33%.
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(k) Impairment of assets

(n) Employee benefits—Note 12 and 13

At each reporting date, the Association
assesses whether there is any indication
that individual assets have been impaired.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset, being the higher of
the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and
value in use, is compared to the asset’s
carrying value. Any excess of the asset’s
carrying value over its recoverable amount
is expensed to the income statement.

Wages, salaries and annual leave

Where it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Association estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.
(l)

Trade and other payables—Note 12

Liabilities are recognised for amounts to
be paid in the future for goods or services
received, whether or not billed to the
Association. Trade accounts payable,
are measured at amortised cost and are
normally settled within 30 days.
The fair value of financial liabilities for
disclosure purposes is estimated by
discounting the future contractual cash
flows at the current market interest rate
that is available to the Association for
similar financial instruments.
(m) Provisions—Note 13
A provision is recognised when there is a
legal, equitable or constructive obligation
as a result of a past event and it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation, the
timing or amount of which is uncertain.
Where the effect of the time value
of money is material, provisions are
determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and, where
appropriate, the risks specific to the
liability.

Liabilities for employee benefits for wages
and salaries (including non-monetary
benefits), and annual leave to be settled
within 12 months of the reporting date
represent present obligations resulting from
employees’ services provided up to the
reporting date, calculated at undiscounted
amounts based on remuneration rates that
the Association expects to pay including
related on-costs. Amounts payable over
a period of greater than 12 months are
discounted to their present values of
estimated future cashflows. Liabilities for
non accumulating sick leave are recognised
when leave is taken and measured at the
actual rates paid/payable.
Long service leave
Liabilities for long service leave are
recognised as part of the provision for
employee benefits and measured as the
present value of expected future payments
to be made in respect of services provided
by employees to the end of the reporting
period using the projected unit credit
method. Consideration is given to expected
future salaries and wages levels, experience
of employee departures and periods of
service. Expected future payments are
discounted using national government
bond rates at the end of the reporting
period with terms to maturity and currency
that match, as closely as possible, the
estimated future cash outflows.
Superannuation plan
The Association contributes to several
defined contribution employee
superannuation plans. Contributions 
are charged to the income statement 
as incurred.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(o) Leases

(r)

Leases where the lessor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the net asset are classified
as operating leases. The Association only
enters into operating leases. Payments
made under operating leases (net of
incentives received from the lessor) are
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the period of the lease.

Where required by Australian Accounting
Standards, comparative figures have 
been adjusted to conform to changes 
in presentation and disclosure for the
current year.

(p) Reserves
The Association, in order to provide a
reserve against reduced gate takings due
to inclement weather in a particular year,
appropriates from time to time certain
surpluses to the Rain Protection Reserve.
Nil transfers (2009: Nil) took place during
the year.
The Asset Replacement Reserve is to
be used for replacement of buildings
demolished as a result of the Brisbane 
City Council by-pass tunnel. Nil transfers
(2009: Nil) took place during the year.
The Asset Revaluation Reserve contains
the revaluation increment on the available
for sale financial assets from valuing the
investments at fair value.
The Association has recorded a General
Reserve for non-specific purposes. There
were Nil transfers to/from the General
Reserve during the year (2009: Nil).
(q) Trust Funds
The Association from time to time receives
monies from third parties to be held in 
trust and used for specific prize payments
where the particular prize is eligible to be
paid. These monies accrue interest at the
average term deposit rate with any prizes
paid deducted from the balance of the 
trust fund.

Comparatives

(s) C
 ritical Accounting Estimates and
Judgements
The Councillors evaluate estimates and
judgements incorporated into the financial
report based on historical knowledge
and best available current information.
Estimates assume a reasonable expectation
of future events and are based on current
trends and economic data, obtained
externally and internally.

The Association expects to first apply
these Standards and Interpretations in
the financial report of the Association
relating to the annual reporting period
beginning after the effective date of each
pronouncement.
For the new standards that have been
reviewed, the Councillors anticipate that
their adoption in future periods will have
no material financial impact on the financial
statements of the Association.

Impairment
The Councillors assess impairment at each
reporting date by evaluating conditions
specific to the Association that may lead to
impairment of assets. Where an impairment
trigger exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is determined. Value in use
calculations are performed in assessing
recoverable amounts and incorporate 
a number of key estimates.
Useful lives of Property, Plant and
Equipment
Useful lives of property, plant and
equipment are based upon expectations
of the consumption of the assets at their
acquisition date and are re-assessed
annually. The actual useful lives of property,
plant and equipment may vary for various
reasons from the useful lives adopted for
depreciation purposes.
(t) A
 ccounting Standards Issued
Not yet Effective
At the date of authorisation of the
financial report, certain Standards and
Interpretations were on issue but not
yet effective. These Standards and
Interpretations have not been adopted 
in the preparation of the financial report 
for 31 December 2010.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2010

3 Revenue
2010 $

2009 $

Gate receipts

5,985,083

4,240,368

Show rents

4,245,023

4,383,012

Advertising and sponsorship

1,287,505

1,102,323

Competition entry fees

737,006

702,212

Membership subscription

427,326

422,391

Bar sales

569,228

502,110

Deli sale

36,233

59,677

292,742

316,906

13,580,146

11,728,999

1,833,129

1,955,517

684,171

585,136

2,802,356

260,337

Recovered overheads

478,971

483,774

Sundry rent from ground facilities

183,850

329,940

5,982,477

3,614,704

197,130

306,628

-

21,600

66,324

31,749

263,454

359,977

63,741

79,758

Carpark—RBH

797,828

1,001,710

Dividends Received

103,778

92,828

32,300

-

997,647

1,174,296

ROYAL QUEENSLAND SHOW

Sundry show revenue

RENT FROM GROUND FACILITIES
Special exhibition rent
Special exhibition car parking
Special exhibition food and beverage

INTEREST REVENUE
Bank Bills
Hybrids
Other

OTHER INCOME
Sundry revenue

Compensation

Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment

(15,511)

Gain/(loss) on sale of financial assets

258,821

(411,640)

Capital grants and subsidies

150,000

150,000

21,217,034

16,621,654

Total revenue
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4 Employee costs
2010 $

2009 $

5,068,963

4,801,539

Superannuation expense

392,826

368,812

Fringe benefits tax

(41,937)

Salary and wages

(2)

5,419,852

5,170,349

247,048

272,897

Audit of the financial report

28,971

21,018

Other Services (Indirect Tax Advisory)

17,072

19,080

18,768

11,157

502,532

410,587

86,861

30,747

Cost of bar stock sold

826,458

198,421

Cost of deli stock sold

17,383

44,823

Electricity and gas

397,436

403,947

Insurance

576,418

533,174

Lease expense

(24,908)

37,917

Legal fees

165,736

92,285

1,016,969

777,360

66,665

68,279

Other materials and services*

1,950,247

2,200,119

Other show expenses**

4,269,643

3,024,698

Postage and telephone

150,472

196,113

Printing and stationery

331,581

308,974

Prizes and ribbons

406,572

396,413

Rates and utility charges

788,599

719,174

1,156,628

1,360,286

12,997,151

11,127,469

5a Material and services
Advertising
Auditors remuneration

Bad debts (including increase/(decrease) in provision)
Consultants—other
Consultants—redevelopment

Maintenance
Materials

Show acts

*

 ther materials and services include expenses such as catering, cleaning, promoter payback commissions, contract labour, hire of
O
equipment, travel, workplace health and safety.

** O
 ther show expenses include expenses such as catering, cleaning, ticketing commissions, contract labour, hire of equipment
and security.
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5b Depreciation and amortisation
2010 $

2009 $

1,337,084

2,587,265

Depreciation of plant and equipment

729,490

663,273

Depreciation of sub-stations and electrical

129,609

127,143

Amortisation of computer software

153,134

133,017

2,349,317

3,510,698

Depreciation of buildings and improvements

6 Significant Items
The following significant items of revenue and expense are relevant in understanding the result from operations for the Association:
INCOME
Gain on disposal of financial assets

258,821

0

258,821

0

0

411,640

0

411,640

231,108

293,757

2,166,670

1,536,307

EXPENSE
Loss on disposal of financial assets

7 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank and on hand

8 Trade and other receivables
CURRENT
Trade debtors

62

Provision for impairment

(18,710)

(15,162)

Other debtors

143,156

167,304

2,291,116

1,688,449
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9 Other financial assets
2010 $

2009 $

3,474,184

4,474,230

509,439

1,030,089

3,983,623

5,504,319

3,690,655

3,450,701

383,022

714,424

4,073,677

4,165,125

CURRENT—RECEIVABLES
Bank Bills
Cash Management Trust

NON-CURRENT—AVAILABLE FOR SALE
Investments in Listed Equities—at fair value
Investments in Hybrid Securities—at fair value

Short-term deposits
Short-term bank bills at 31 December 2010 mature within 30 days and pay interest between 4.87% and 5.11% (2009: mature within 30 days
and pay interest between 3.76% and 4.25%).
Investments in listed equities and hybrid securities
Investments are classified as available for sale and are carried at fair value.
The fair value of the investments in listed equities and hybrid securities is determined by reference to the quoted market price at balance
date, which is categorised as level one in the fair value hierarchy.
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10 Property, plant and equipment
2010 $

2009 $

96,880

96,880

23,546,351

23,753,105

(17,158,855)

(16,013,014)

6,387,496

7,740,091

At cost

14,377,294

13,792,734

Accumulated depreciation

(8,224,120)

(7,494,633)

6,153,174

6,298,101

2,644,730

2,629,820

(2,230,278)

(2,100,669)

FREEHOLD LAND—AT COST
BUILDINGS AND GROUND IMPROVEMENTS
At cost
Accumulated depreciation

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

SUB-STATIONS AND ELECTRICAL EQUIPMENT
At cost
Accumulated depreciation

WORK IN PROGRESS—MASTER PLAN COSTS
Total property, plant and equipment net book value
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414,452

529,151

6,441,775

2,595,802

19,493,777

17,260,025

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2010 $

2009 $

Carrying amount at beginning of year

96,880

96,880

Carrying amount at end of year

96,880

96,880

Carrying amount at beginning of year

2,595,802

0

Additions

3,845,973

2,595,802

Carrying amount at end of year

6,441,775

2,595,802

7,740,091

10,088,390

0

238,966

RECONCILIATIONS
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment are set out below:
FREEHOLD LAND

WORK IN PROGRESS—MASTER PLAN COSTS

BUILDINGS
Carrying amount at beginning of year
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation Expense

(15,511)

0

(1,337,084)

(2,587,265)

6,387,496

7,740,091

6,298,101

4,883,020

Additions

584,561

2,078,354

Disposals

0

(39,476)

Depreciation on Disposal

0

39,476

Carrying amount at end of year
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Carrying amount at beginning of year

Depreciation Expense
Carrying amount at end of year

(729,488)

(663,273)

6,153,174

6,298,101

529,151

470,570

14,910

185,724

(129,609)

(127,143)

414,452

529,151

19,493,777

17,260,025

SUB-STATIONS AND ELECTRICAL EQUIPMENT
Carrying amount at beginning of year
Additions
Depreciation Expense
Carrying amount at end of year
Total carrying value of property, plant and equipment
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Current valuation of land and buildings
The Association is incorporated under the Royal National Agricultural and Industrial Association of Queensland Act 1971 (the Act) and
operates under the provisions of that Act. In accordance with the Act, the Association cannot sell its land without the approval of the
Governor in Council. In the event of an RNA insolvency, the balance site (approximately 14ha which has not been made available for 
private development) would be divested automatically to the State Government.
Given the special purpose nature of the land and the restrictions imposed by the Act on the Association’s ability to deal with the land, 
the Councillors most recent valuation of freehold land was carried out as at 31 December 2010 on the basis of rateable value. This value 
was $38,300,000.
With respect to the current value of the Association’s buildings, the Councillors commissioned an independent valuation in March 2006
prepared on the basis of reinstatement cost for insurance purposes. The independent valuation of reinstatement cost of the Association’s
buildings resulted in a valuation of $96,744,000.
As freehold land and buildings are recorded at cost, the above valuations have not been brought to account.
The RNA has entered into a loan agreement with Queensland Treasury Corporation for $65 million to assist in the financing of new facilities
to be delivered as part of the RNA redevelopment. The loan will be secured by a first registered mortgage over the balance site (ie, that
part of the RNA site that is not within the private development lots to be sold in accordance with the Project Development Agreement) 
and a first ranking charge over all of the assets of the RNA. As at 31 December 2010, no funds have been drawn down.

11 Intangible assets
2010 $

2009 $

Computer software at cost

935,962

679,225

Accumulated amortisation

(615,501)

(462,367)

320,461

216,858

Carrying amount at beginning of year

216,858

271,216

Additions

256,737

78,659

Disposals

0

0

Net carrying value
RECONCILIATIONS
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts for each class of intangible asset are set out below:
Computer software

Depreciation Expense
Carrying amount at end of year
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(153,134)

(133,017)

320,461

216,858
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12 Trade and other payables
2010 $

2009 $

Unsecured trade creditors

223,677

419,975

Other creditors and accruals

449,093

149,765

Annual leave

307,079

267,281

979,849

837,021

131,251

133,450

131,251

133,450

114,401

68,195

114,401

68,195

245,652

201,645

13 Provisions
CURRENT
Provision for long service leave

NON-CURRENT
Provision for long service leave

Total provisions

The present values of employee benefits not expected to be settled within 12 months of balance date have been calculated using the
following weighted averages:

Assumed rate of increase in wages and salary rates
Discount rate
Settlement term (years)

2010 %

2009 %

4%

4%

5.5%

5.5%

10

10
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14 Notes to the statement of cash flows
(i)

Reconciliation of cash

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and at bank, net of outstanding bank
overdrafts. Cash as at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the balance
sheet as follows:
2010 $

2009 $

Cash on hand

14,490

10,290

Cash at bank

216,618

283,467

Total cash

231,108

293,757

(ii) Reconciliation of cash flow from operations with operating surplus/(deficit)
Surplus/(Deficit) after income tax

450,714

(3,186,862)

15,511

(5,318)

ADD/(LESS) ITEMS CLASSIFIED AS INVESTING/FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
(Gain)/loss on sale of non-current assets
(Gain)/loss on sale of investments

(258,821)

411,640

ADD/(LESS) NON-CASH ITEMS:
Depreciation and amortisation

2,349,317

3,510,697

83,807

61,360

(Increase)/decrease in inventories

17,674

1,722

(Increase) in other assets

58,479

(34,575)

(602,666)

(619,662)

80,324

111,765

569,260

672,323

354

980

2,763,953

924,070

Amounts set aside to provisions
CHANGE IN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES DURING THE YEAR:

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
Increase in trade and other payables
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities
Increase in trust funds
Cash flow from operations
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15 Financial Instruments
(a) Interest rate risk exposures
The Association’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective weighted average interest rate for classes of financial assets and financial
liabilities is set out below:
Fixed interest maturing in

Note
2010

Weighted
average
interest rate

Floating
interest
rate

%

$

$

$

1 year 
or less

1 to 5
years

Non-
interest
bearing

Total

$

$

$

>5
years

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents

7

3.52

216,618

-

-

-

14,490

231,108

Trade and other receivables

8

-

-

-

-

-

2,291,116

2,291,116

Bank bills

9

5.00

-

3,474,184

-

-

-

3,474,184

Cash management trust

9

3.04

509,439

-

-

-

-

509,439

Investments in listed equities

9

-

-

-

-

-

3,690,655

3,690,655

Investments in hybrid
securities

9

-

-

383,022

-

-

-

383,022

726,057

3,857,206

-

-

5,996,261

10,579,524

-

-

-

-

-

672,770

672,770

-

-

-

-

-

2,073,680

2,073,680

2,746,450

2,746,450

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables
Other liabilities

12
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Fixed interest maturing in

Note
2009

Weighted
average
interest rate

Floating
interest
rate

%

$

$

$

1 year 
or less

1 to 5
years

Non-
interest
bearing

Total

$

$

$

>5
years

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents

7

2.01

283,467

-

-

-

10,290

293,757

Trade and other receivables

8

-

-

-

-

-

1,688,449

1,688,449

Bank bills

9

3.82

-

4,474,230

-

-

-

4,474,230

Cash management trust

9

2.23

1,030,089

-

-

-

-

1,030,089

Investments in listed equities

9

-

-

-

-

-

3,450,701

3,450,701

Investments in hybrid
securities

9

6.00

-

714,424

-

-

-

714,424

1,313,556

5,188,654

-

-

5,149,440

11,651,650

-

-

-

-

-

569,740

569,740

-

-

-

-

-

1,527,122

1,527,122

2,096,862

2,096,862

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables
Other liabilities

12

(b) Credit risk exposures
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Association if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligations to the Association.
Credit risk arises principally from trade and other receivables and investments.
The objective of the Association is to minimize risk of loss from credit risk exposure.
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Receivables

Maximum credit risk

The Association has established a number
of policies and processes to manage credit
risk from receivables. These include :

The Association’s maximum exposure to
credit risk, without taking into account the
value of any collateral or other security, 
in the event other parties fail to perform
their obligations under financial instruments 
in relation to each class of recognised
financial asset at reporting date is the
carrying amount of those assets as
indicated in the Statement of Financial
Position.

• Credit assessment and approval policies
• Credit limits
• Review of ageing
• Follow-up procedures
• Debt recovery procedures
Credit risk from receivables is measured
using debtors days and aging. Refer Note
2(f) for ageing analysis.
Investments
The Association has established a number
of policies and processes to manage credit
risk from investments. These include :
• M
 onitoring performance of companies
invested in
• M
 onitoring rate of return eg dividends 
/ interest
Credit risk from investments is measured
using rate of return on investment.
2010 $

2009 $

8,057,300

9,669,444

Income
earned

582,725

26,957

Rate of
return

7.23%

0.28%

Investment
value

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Association
will not be able to meet its financial
obligations as they fall due.
The objective of managing liquidity risk
is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will
always have sufficient liquidity to meet its
liabilities when they fall due, under both
normal and stressed conditions.
The Association has established a number
of policies and processes for managing
liquidity risk. These include:
• C
 ontinuously monitoring actual and daily
cashflows and longer-term forecasted
cashflows

2010 $

2009 $

Current
assets

7,086,626

8,143,458

Current
liabilities

3,184,780

2,497,593

Surplus 
/ (deficit)

3,901,846

5,645,865

Maturity analysis
Financial liabilities have differing maturity
profiles depending on the contractual 
term and in the case of borrowings,
different repayment amounts and
frequency. The table shows the period 
in which the principal and interest 
(if applicable) of recognised and
unrecognised financial liability balances
will be paid based on the remaining period
to repayment date assuming contractual
repayments are maintained. Contractual
cashflows are at undiscounted values
(including future interest expected to be
paid). Accordingly these values may not
agree to the carrying amount.

• M
 onitoring the maturity profiles of
financial assets and liabilities in order 
to match inflows and outflows
• F
 inancial assets held for which there
is liquid market and that are readily
saleable

Concentrations

• F
 inancial assets held for which there
is not a liquid market, but which are
expected to generate cash inflows that
are available to meet cash outflows

The Association has no concentration of
credit risk from receivables or investments.

• M
 aintaining adequate reserves and
support facilities

Income earned excludes fair value
movements.

Summary quantitative data

• M
 onitoring liquidity ratios (working
capital)
Liquidity risk is measured using liquidity
ratios such as working capital.
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Carrying
amount

Contract
cashflow

979,849

979,849

Borrowings

-

Finance leases

Within 
1 year

1 – 5 years

> 5 years

No maturity

979,849

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Interest rate swaps

-

-

-

-

-

-

Commitments

-

139,236

47,738

91,498

-

-

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are contractually due within 6 months of year end.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect the
Association’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.
The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters while optimising
the return.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises principally from cash at bank and available for sale financial assets.
The Association has established a number of policies and processes for managing interest risk rate. It is the policy of the Association to
manage interest rate risk exposures by continuously monitoring interest rates and to alter the balance of fixed and variable rate deposits 
as considered appropriate.
Interest rate risk is measured as the value of assets and liabilities at fixed rate compared to those at variable rate.
Sensitivity analysis
A change of 100 basis points (1%) in interest rates at reporting date would have increased / decreased equity and profit or loss by the
amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 
the prior year.
Profit or loss

Equity

+1%

-1%

+1%

31 Dec 2010

45,832

(45,832)

45,832

(45,832)

31 Dec 2009

65,022

(65,022)

65,022

(65,022)

Equity price risk
Equity price risk arises principally from available for sale financial assets.
The Association has established a number of policies and processes for managing equity price risk. These include:
• Monitoring equity prices continuously;
• Assessing the earnings and risk of an industry or company prior to investing;
• Maintaining a diversified portfolio;
• Utilising third party experts to maintain and manage the day to day investments.
• D
 ue to the large value of fixed interest investments, the Association has adopted a policy that maintains an equity portfolio of 
30% defensive assets and 70% growth assets.
Equity price risk is measured as the percentage fluctuation in the share price of an equity instrument compared to the percentage
fluctuation in the total market index for the same period.
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Summary quantitative data
The Association’s exposure to equity price risk at reporting date is as follows:
Industry / company

2010 $

2009 $

617,216

1,088,075

1,214,660

771,185

Industrials

220,003

169,375

Consumer Discretionary

234,500

132,500

Health Care

400,160

129,960

80,000

0

Telecommunications Services

0

309,650

International Managed Funds

175,144

184,618

0

235,625

748,125

430,650

3,689,808

3,451,638

Energy
Materials

Consumer Staples

Listed Aust Prop Trusts
Financials-Ex Prop Trusts
Total
Sensitivity analysis

A 10% change in equity prices at reporting date would have increased / decreased equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below.
This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for the prior year.
Profit or loss

Equity

+10%

-10%

+10%

-10%

31 Dec 2010

0

0

368,981

(368,981)

31 Dec 2009

0

0

345,163

(345,163)

(c) Net fair values of financial assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities approximate fair value
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16 Commitments
2010 $

2009 $

Within one year

47,738

83,345

One year or later and no later than five years

91,498

191,736

139,236

275,081

OPERATING LEASE PAYABLE COMMITMENTS
Future non-cancellable operating lease rentals of plant and equipment, 
not provided for in the financial statements and payable:

The Association has a ten year lease with QR (commencing 25 Aug 2010) for rental of a fire escape and other areas located on QR land, 
as well as a 5 year lease with QR (commencing 01 November 2010) for rental of subway access for vehicles and pedestrians located on 
QR land. The Association also has a five year lease with Fuji Xerox (commencing 28 October 2008) for rental of two photocopier machines.
OPERATING LEASE RECEIVABLE COMMITMENTS
Future non-cancellable operating lease rentals of plant and equipment, 
not provided for in the financial statements and receivable:
Within one year
One year or later and no later than five years
Later than five years

96,398

86,211

168,356

183,345

68,007

49,090

332,761

318,646

The Association has re-negotiated a 10 year lease with Telstra Corporation for ground rental on RNA land commencing 01 March 2010. 
The Association has re-negotiated a five year lease with Vodafone Network for ground rental on RNA land commencing 01 September
2009. The Association has a 1 year lease with Sarina Russo Schools (commencing 06 May 2010) and a 5 year lease with Canine Control
Council (commencing 01 January 2008), both for ground rental.
CAPITAL EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS
Capital Expenditure commitments contracted for:
Upgrade of John MacDonald Stand
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17 Key management personnel remuneration
Councillors
At the Association’s Council meeting on 27 October 2000 it was resolved that ‘Country Councillors’ who travel a distance of more than
100km radius from Brisbane be reimbursed their travel expenses based on Australian Taxation Office rates, as published, and be able 
to claim overnight accommodation where applicable for attending official meetings of the Council and the Executive Committee. 
At 31 December 2010 there were six Councillors eligible to claim travel expenses (2009: seven Councillors).
Councillors do not receive remuneration for their membership of Council.
Key Management
Total income paid or payable, or otherwise made available to the key management of the Association from the Association or any 
related party.

Salary and fees
Superannuation contribution
Long term benefits—long service leave

2010 $

2009 $

1,428,356

929,417

152,554

159,236

62,640

35,270

1,643,550

1,123,923

18 Related party disclosure
The name of each person holding the position of Councillor of the Association during the year is listed in the Councillors’ Report.
Mr D G Thomas is a partner in the law firm of Minter Ellison. During the period Mr Thomas held the position of Councillor of the Association,
the Association paid legal fees to Minter Ellison amounting to $875,671 (2009: $667,520).
Other transactions between the Association and Councillors and their related entities are trivial in nature and occur within normal 
customer/supplier relationships on terms and conditions no more favourable than those which it is reasonable to expect would have 
been adopted if dealings with non-Councillor related entities at arm’s length in the same circumstances.

19 Contingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities
The Association has no known material contingent assets or contingent liabilities.

20 Subsequent Events
No events have occurred subsequent to balance date that would require disclosure in or amendment of these financial statements.
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COUNCILLORS’ DECLARATION

The Councillors of The Royal National Agricultural and Industrial Association of Queensland declare that:
a. t he financial statements comprising the statement of comprehensive income, statement of financial position, statement of changes
in equity, statement of cash flows and accompanying notes set out on pages 52 to 75, are in accordance with the Royal National
Agricultural and Industrial Association of Queensland Act 1971 (as amended); and
(i) comply with Australian Accounting Standards; and
(ii) g
 ive a true and fair view of the financial position of the Association as at 31 December 2010 and of its performance for the year 
ended on that date; and
b. In the opinion of the Councillors, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Association will be able to pay its obligations and
liabilities as and when they become due and payable.
Dated at Brisbane this 11th day of February 2011.
This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Councillors and is signed for and on behalf of Councillors by:

A G F Warby OAM
President
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C J Sinclair
Honorary Treasurer

INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
THE ROYAL NATIONAL AGRICULTURAL AND INDUSTRIAL
ASSOCIATION OF QUEENSLAND

Scope

Auditor’s Responsibility

Independence

Report on the Financial Report

Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on the financial report based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance
with Australian Auditing Standards.
These Auditing Standards require that we
comply with relevant ethical requirements
relating to audit engagements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance whether the financial report is
free from material misstatement.

In conducting our audit, we followed
applicable independence requirements
of Australian professional ethical
pronouncements. We confirm the
independence declaration provided to
the Councillors of The Royal National
Agricultural and Industrial Association 
of Queensland on 11 February 2011 
would be in the same terms if provided 
to the Councillors as at the time this
auditor’s report was made.

We have audited the accompanying
financial report of The Royal National
Agricultural and Industrial Association
of Queensland, which comprises the
statement of financial position as at 
31 December 2010, and the statement
of comprehensive income, statement of
changes in equity and statement of cash
flows for the year ended on that date,
a summary of significant accounting
policies, other explanatory notes and the
Councillors’ declaration.
Councillors’ Responsibility for the
Financial Report
The Councillors of The Royal National
Agricultural and Industrial Association
of Queensland are responsible for the
preparation and fair presentation of
the financial report in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards (including
the Australian Accounting Interpretations)
and the Royal National Agricultural and
Industrial Association of Queensland Act
1971 (as amended). This responsibility
includes establishing and maintaining
internal controls relevant to the preparation
and fair presentation of the financial report
that is free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting 
and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates
that are reasonable in the circumstances.

An audit involves performing procedures
to obtain audit evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the financial
report. The procedures selected depend
on the auditor’s judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial report,
whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and fair presentation
of the financial report in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the Councillors, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial report.

Audit opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements
of The Royal National Agricultural and
Industrial Association of Queensland are
in accordance with the Royal National
Agricultural and Industrial Association
of Queensland Act 1971 (as amended),
including:
(a) g
 iving a true and fair view of the
Association’s financial position as 
at 31 December 2010 and of its
performance for the year ended 
on that date; and
(b) c omplying with Australian Accounting
Standards including Australian
Accounting Interpretations.
BDO Audit (QLD) Pty Ltd

We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Christopher Skelton
Registered Company Auditor
Director
Brisbane
11 February 2011
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4:01PM. 8 August 2010 Ekka.
Journey home begins.

Locked Bag 1010
Albion Queensland
Australia 4010
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